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(Nikko AM Global Cayman Limited)

KY1-1104
309GT
(P.0. Box 309GT, Ugland House, South Church Street, George Town, Grand
Cayman, KY1-1104, Cayman Islands)

03 6775 1629

NB
(Nikko AM Offshore Funds — NEUB Corporate Hybrid Securities Fund)

10 1,106

1,000

2021 30 UFJ
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UFJ

https://www._pb.mufg.jp/

Nikko AM Global Cayman Limited

UFJ
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2017 18
LLC
Neuberger Berman Investment
Advisers LLC

)
2003 26

)

() 2021
2021 480,000 5,308
110.58 480,000 110.58
1,000,000 1,000,000 1,058
)
2003 26
2009 27

)
2021

EC2V 5DE 480,000 100.00
40

Nikko AM Global Holdings (40 Basinghall Street, London EC2V 5DE,
Limited United Kingdom)

1925
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TOPIX
MSCI-KOKUSAI
MSCI Inc.
MSCI Inc.
MSCI
MSCI Inc.
MSCI Inc.
NOMURA-BPI
FTSE
FTSE Fixed IncomeLLC FTSE Fixed Income LLC
FTSE Fixed Income LLC
JP GBI-EM
JP. Morgan SecuritiesLLC
JP. Morgan SecuritiesLLC
3.3
0.015
15,000
0.65 0.30 0.35

32/193



EDINETOOOO
OO000DO00oDOo00DOo0OooOodnE27078)
Ooooooooooooooooooad

0.08 2.5
0.07 2.5
0.06

80,000

0.05

0.65

180,000
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459,129
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2021
13,250,554.77 22.74
12,196,014.36 20.93
9,993,100.42 17.15
6,087,945.17 10.45
4,671,249.75 8.02
4,324,906.76 7.42
4,031,621.80 6.92
1,542,178.74 2.65
1,168,593.94 2.01
637,643.37 1.09
252,268.92 0.43
58,156,078.00 99.82
104,658.11 0.18
58,260,736.11
100.00
6,442,472,199
2021
NGG FINANCE V/R 2073
5.625 3,424,000 | 158.19| 5,416,501.54|154.03| 5,274,138.98 .05
06/18/73/GBP/ 18
BAYER AG V/R 2075
2.375 3,845,000 110.83| 4,261,231.83|120.27| 4,624,288.19 .94
04/02/75/EUR/
VOLKSWAGEN INT 2170
3.875 2,900,000 | 116.77| 3,386,426.96| 131.03| 3,799,948.27 .52
V/R /PERP//EUR/ 14
VODAFONE GRO V/R 2079
3.1 3,000,000 116.99| 3,509,576.72|123.48| 3,704,455.10 .36
01/03/79/EUR/
ENBRIDGE INC V/R 2077
5.5 3,309,000| 101.65| 3,363,466.09|106.40| 3,520,776.00 .04
07/15/77 15
ELECTRICITE DE 2169
6 2,200,000 | 148.79| 3,273,447.19|154.31| 3,394,775.12 .83
V/R /PERP//GBP/ 29
VEOLIA ENVIRON 2170
2.5 2,700,000 117.59| 3,175,064.95|119.18| 3,217,939.63 .52
V/R /PERP//EUR/ 20
TENNET HOLDING 2169
2.374 2,450,000 114.20| 2,797,956.23|122.92| 3,011,504.09 17
V/R /PERP//EUR/ 10 22
BP CAPITAL MAR 2170
3.625 2,276,000 | 112.65| 2,563,867.89| 128.95| 2,934,794.52 .04
V/R /PERP//EUR/ 22
ENEL SPA V/R 2169
10 2.5 1,867,000 110.33| 2,059,768.01|124.12| 2,317,322.04 .98
/PERP//EUR/ 11 24
VEOLIA ENVIRON 2170
11 2.25 1,400,000 | 123.74| 1,732,308.82|121.55| 1,701,766.49 .92
V/R /PERP//EUR/ 20
VOLKSWAGEN INT 2169
12 2.7 1,300,000 | 119.00| 1,547,004.52|122.00| 1,585,952.92 .72
V/R /PERP//EUR/ 12 14
CMS ENERGY CORP 2050
13 3.75 1,405,000 100.37| 1,410,145.69|101.73| 1,429,306.50 .45
V/R 12/01/50 12
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SUEZ V/R 2170

14 2.875 1,000,000 | 126.60 | 1,265,994.69|124.86| 1,248,574.81 2.14
/PERP//EUR/ 19
CMS ENERGY CORP 2050

15 4.75 1,115,000 100.00| 1,115,000.00| 111.44| 1,242,528.13 2.13
V/R 06/01/50
ENI SPA V/R 2170

16 2 951,000 | 120.32| 1,144,243.19|118.44| 1,126,327.02 1.93
/PERP//EUR/ 11
BERTELSMANN ~ V/R 2075

17 3 800,000 | 114.07 912,596.83 | 122.87 982,964.99 1.69
04/23/75/EUR/ 23
TOTALENERGIES 2170

18 1.625 800,000 | 120.75 965,999.99 | 118.59 948,685.84 1.63
V/R /PERP//EUR/ 25
BHP BILLITON V/R 2077

19 6.5 608,000 | 146.33 889,679.57 | 147.52 896,908.57 1.54
10/22/77/GBP/ 10 22
ENI SPA V/R 2169

20 3.375 700,000 | 117.91 825,404.99 | 125.89 881,257.70 1.51
/PERP//EUR/ 10 13
SES SA V/R 2169

21 2.875 692,000 | 122.77 849,595.12| 119.43 826,467.72 1.42
/PERP//EUR/ 27
SSE PLC V/R 2077

22 4.75 725,000 99.93 724,494.91 103.42 749,816.75 1.29
09/16/77 16
ENTERPRISE 2078

23 | PRODUC V/R 5.375 15 721,000 | 100.00 721,000.00 | 103.21 744,110.32 1.28
02/15/78
AUSNET SERVI V/R 2081

24 1.625 535,000 | 120.62 645,343.74] 120.61 645,270.17 1.11
03/11/81/EUR/ 11
SOUTHERN CO V/R 2051

25 4 600,000 | 100.00 600,000.00 | 105.75 634,500.00 1.09
01/15/51 15
SOUTHERN CO V/R 2051

26 3.75 616,000 | 101.45 624,920.80 | 100.78 620,804.80 1.07
09/15/51 15
BRITISH TELE V/R 2080

27 1.874 509,000 | 109.15 555,598.94 | 115.39 587,349.42 1.01
08/18/80/EUR/ 18
KONINKLIJKA FR 2169

28 2.85 479,000 | 121.64 582,648.121120.73 578,305.01 0.99
V/R /PERP//EUR/ 12 10
VOLVO TREASU V/R 2078

29 4.85 409,000 | 115.23 471,283.69| 127.19 520,198.00 0.89
03/10/78/EUR/ 10
ARKEMA V/R 2169

30 2.75 400,000 | 112.60 450,399.36 | 125.16 500,658.51 0.86
/PERP//EUR/ 17
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2020 2021
2018 28 62,318,176.00 6,891,143,902 10.44 1,154
2019 28 47,211,429.00 5,220,639,819 10.02 1,108
2020 29 29,189,271.00 3,227,749,587 10.61 1,173
2021 28 25,004,453.00 2,764,992,413 10.62 1,174
2020 28,182,730.42 3,116,446,330 10.41 1,151
28,396,549.00 3,140,090,388 10.51 1,162
27,310,956.54 3,020,045,574 10.41 1,151
10 26,810,492.56 2,964,704,267 10.36 1,146
11 27,865,036.39 3,081,315,724 10.69 1,182
12 27,448,485.75 3,035,253,554 10.74 1,188
2021 25,692,993.90 2,841,131,265 10.70 1,183
25,004,453.00 2,764,992,413 10.62 1,174
22,920,874.73 2,534,590,328 10.66 1,179
22,963,579.80 2,539,312,654 10.69 1,182
22,039,896.07 2,437,171,707 10.63 1,175
21,121,802.44 2,335,648,914 10.68 1,181
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2018 28 9,393,871,563 10,313
2019 28 7,174,360,266 9,675
2020 29 5,208,004,048 10,031
2021 28 4,213,414,408 9,957
2020 4,833,727,630 9,759
4,591,039,565 9,855

4,462,661,940 9,761

10 4,398,545,750 9,719

11 4,499,357,824 10,030

12 4,466,388,172 10,070

2021 4,237,289,143 10,028
4,213,414,408 9,957

4,201,737,392 9,994

4,186,757,749 10,023

4,128,649,996 9,965

4,122,050,248 10,012
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0.27 30 225
0.36 40 300
0.36 40 300
0.36 40 300
2021 0.03 3 25
0.03 3 25
0.03 3 25
0.03 3 25
1.47 163 1,225

7.10 5.38

-0.57 -3.28

9.48 6.78

3.49 2.25

100x
10
10,000
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6,550,758 581,344 5,969,414
(6,550,758) (581,344) (5.,969,414)
436,038 1,691,451 4,714,001
(436,038) (1,691,451) (4,714,001)
224,384 2,186,392 2,751,993
(224,384) (2,186,392) (2,751,993)
201,749 599,424 2,354,318
(201,749) (599, 424) (2,354,318)
1,018,701 107,794 910,907
(1,018,701) (107,794) (910,907)
101,095 270,488 741,514
(101,095) (270, 488) (741,514)
32,615 254,925 519,204
(32,615) (254,925) (519,204)
10,045 106,107 423,142
(10,045) (106,107) (423,142)
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2021 28
NB
2021 28
60,240,818 64,226,401 7,102,155
1,360,467 150,440
2,568,501 2,568,625 284,039
3,190,412 352,796
15,284 1,690
829,595 91,737
301,148 33,301
72,491,932 8,016,158
43,697 4,832
6,341,010 701,189
68,377 7,561
43,426 4,802
30,243 3,344
28,603 3,163
23,750 2,626
5,260 582
1,784 197
1,348,429 149,109
5,177 572
7,939,756 877,978
64,552,176 7,138,180
63,925,861 7,068,922
(4,590,024) (507,565)
2,272,701 251,315
2,943,638 325,507
64,552,176 7,138,180
4,213,414,408
423,142 9,957
25,004,453
2,354,318 10.62 1,174
110.58
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NB
2021 28
2,006,435 221,872
2,006,435 221,872
459,129 50,770
459,128 50,770
178,974 19,791
35,318 3,905
33,258 3,678
10,970 1,213
10,332 1,143
1,761 195
24,994 2,764
1,213,864 134,229
792,571 87,643
1,200,555 132,757
(1,967,589) (217,576)
(767,034) (84,819)
5,402,522 597,411
(2,862,393) (316,523)
2,540,129 280,887
1,773,095 196,069
2,565,666 283,711
110.58
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NB
2021 28
792,571 87,643
(767,034) (84,819)
2,540,129 280,887
2,565,666 283,711
(1,343,063) (148,516)
(952,129) (105,286)
(2,295,192) (253,802)
10,045 942,032 104,170
201,749 2,095,841 231,758
106,107 (9,918,060) (1,096,739)
599,424 (6,309,995) (697,759)
(13,190, 182) (1,458,570)
(12,919,708) (1,428,661)
77,471,884 8,566,841
64,552,176 7,138,180
110.58
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NB
2021 28
2,565,666 283,711
(44,528, 255) (4,923,934)
66,428,332 7,345,645
559,368 61,855
(1,200,555) (132,757)
(5,402,522) (597,411)
2,894,122 320,032
402,927 44,556
102 11
(24,707) (2,732)
10,970 1,213
1,661 184
(11,258) (1,245)
(19,038) (2,105)
(1,464) (162)
830 92
21,676,179 2,396,952
3,044,579 336,670
(18,692,323) (2,066,997)
(2,295,192) (253,802)
(17,942,936) (1,984,130)
3,733,243 412,822
195,849 21,657
3,929,092 434,479
110.58
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NB
2021 28
2021 28 2021 28
10,031 10.61 1,173
® 109 0.12 13
117 0.25 28
226 0.37 41
(300) (0.36) (40)
9,957 10.62 1,174
2.37 3.63
4,213,414 25,004 2,764,942
® 1.71 1.71
® 1.11 1.12
@
@
110.58

58/193



EDINETOOOO
OO000DO00oDOo00DOo0OooOodnE27078)
Ooooooooooooooooooad

NB
2021 28
(@D)
99.5
2.3
2.3
BHP Billiton Finance Ltd.
989,000 6.50% due 10/22/77 2.3 1,493,753
1,493,753
1,493,753
0.4
0.4
Elia System Operator S.A.
100,000 2.75% due 09/05/23(%) 0.2 127,206
Solvay S.A.
100,000 4.25% due 12/04/23® 0.2 129,884
257,090
257,090
6.0
6.0
Enbridge, Inc.
3,309,000 5.50% due 07/15/77 5.2 3,368,198
360,000 6.00% due 01/15/77 0.6 379,800
Transcanada Trust
100,000 5.88% due 08/15/76 0.2 110,417
3,858,415
3,858,415
0.9
0.9
Orsted AS®
450,000 2.25% due 11/24/17 0.9 570,789
570,789
570,789
16.4
16.4
Arkema S_A.
400,000 2.75% due 06/17/24 0.8 507,386
Danone S.A.
100,000 1.75% due 03/27/23(M 0.2 123,808
Electricite de France S.A.
400,000 3.38% due 06/15/30(D 0.8 502,183
2,200,000 6.00% due 01/29/26() 5.3 3,437,230
Engie S.A.
100,000 1.38% due 01/16/23%) 0.2 122,671
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(@D)
Orange S.A.
155,000 5.25% due 02/07/24) 0.3 211,423
TOTAL SE
800,000 1.63% due 10/25/27(M 1.5 970,263
100,000 2.71% due 05/05/23(%) 0.2 125,919
Unibail-Rodamco-Westfield SE
1,200,000 2.13% due 07/25/23® 2.1 1,382,769
Veolia Environnement S.A.
2,700,000 2.50% due 01/20/29(1 5.0 3,225,479
10,609,131
10,609,131
10.6
10.6
Bayer AG
3,845,000 2.38% due 04/02/75 7.3 4,741,173
300,000 2.38% due 11/12/79 0.6 366,149
Bertelsmann SE & Co. KGaA
800,000 3.00% due 04/23/75 1.5 997,468
EnBW Energie Baden-Wuerttemberg AG
100,000 3.63% due 04/02/76 0.2 121,696
Evonik Industries AG
522,000 2.13% due 07/07/77 1.0 646,783
6,873,269
6,873,269
5.0
5.0
Enel SpA
1,867,000 2.50% due 08/24/23 3.6 2,354,092
ENI SpA
700,000 3.38% due 07/13/29(M 1.4 887,565
3,241,657
3,241,657
1.3
1.3
Aroundtown S.A.
300,000 1.63% due 04/16/26(M 0.5 346,479
Grand City Properties S.A.
400,000 1.50% due 03/11/26) 0.8 473,989
820,468
820,468
15.8
15.8
ELM BV for Firmenich International S.A.
315,000 3.75% due 09/03/25(M 0.6 409,569
Iberdrola International BV
400,000 2.25% due 01/28/29(D 0.8 497,051
TenneT Holding BV
2,450,000 2.37% due 07/22/25(® 4.8 3,084,287
100,000 3.00% due 03/01/24) 0.2 127,601
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(@)
Volkswagen International Finance NV
1,900,000 2.70% due 12/14/22M 3.6 2,355,227
2,900,000 3.88% due 06/14/27(M 5.8 3,722,126
10,195,861
10,195,861
10.5
10.5
Fastighets AB Balder
5,200,000 2.87% due 06/02/81 9.7 6,224,153
Volvo Treasury AB
409,000 4.85% due 03/10/78 0.8 536,138
6,760,291
6,760,291
24.1
24.1
BP Capital Markets PLC
2,276,000 3.63% due 03/22/29M 4.6 2,951,157
British Telecommunications PLC
709,000 1.87% due 08/18/80 1.3 848,990
Centrica PLC
200,000 3.00% due 04/10/76 0.4 243,342
NGG Finance PLC
3,741,000 5.63% due 06/18/73 9.1 5,955,996
SSE PLC
1,725,000 4.75% due 09/16/77 2.8 1,788,083
Vodafone Group PLC
3,000,000 3.10% due 01/03/79 5.9 3,782,504
15,570,072
15,570,072
6.2
6.2
CMS Energy Corp.
1,405,000 3.75% due 12/01/50 2.2 1,408,933
1,115,000 4.75% due 06/01/50 1.9 1,225,765
Enterprise Products Operating LLC
721,000 5.38% due 02/15/78 1.1 716,279
Southern Co.
600,000 4.00% due 01/15/51 1.0 624,628
3,975,605
3,975,605
60,240,818 64,226,401
60,240,818 99.5 64,226,401
0.5 325,775
100.0 64,552,176
(7,138,179,622 )
@
(@) 3017 11 24
110.58
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Citibank NA
Goldman Sachs
Royal Bank of
Canada

Royal Bank of
Canada

State Street
Bank And
Trust Co.
State Street
Bank And
Trust Co.
State Street
Bank And
Trust Co.
State Street
Bank And
Trust Co.
Westpac
Banking
Corporation
Westpac
Banking
Corporation
State Street
Bank And
Trust Co.
Citibank NA
State Street
Bank And
Trust Co.
State Street
Bank And
Trust Co.
State Street
Bank And
Trust Co.
Westpac
Banking
Corporation

116,526
58,162

148,283

115,636

167,955

1,650,345

2,386,033

51,770

1,343,600

22,055

108,839
2,459

48,128,646

3,778,354

10,990,018

194,261

2021
2021

2021

2021

2021

2021

2021

2021

2021

2021

2021

2021

2021

2021

2021

2021

20
20

20

20

20

20

20

20

20

20

20

20

20

20

20

20
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(104, 385)
(70,613)

(179,951)

(139,748)

(204,725)

(1,995,212)

(2,911,931)

(62,889)

(1,638,955)

(26,680)

(149,874)
(255,324)

(39,460,435)

(3,085,469)

(8,031,547)

(161,305)

22 (4,394) (4,372)
68 68

249 249

777 777
(619) (619)

10,357 10,357
(12,322)  (12,322)

24 24
(6,156) (6,156)

122 122
2,334 2,334
61 61
174,646 174,646
28,761 28,761
(241,894)  (241,894)

(1,764) (1,764)

217,421  (267,149)  (49,728)
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State Street
Bank And
Trust Co.
State Street
Bank And
Trust Co.
UBS AG London
Branch
Westpac
Banking
Corporation
Westpac
Banking
Corporation
Westpac
Banking
Corporation
Westpac
Banking
Corporation
Westpac
Banking
Corporation
Westpac
Banking
Corporation
Citibank NA
Goldman Sachs
Goldman Sachs
Goldman Sachs
Westpac
Banking
Corporation
Westpac
Banking
Corporation
Westpac
Banking
Corporation
Westpac
Banking
Corporation
Westpac
Banking
Corporation
Westpac
Banking
Corporation
Westpac
Banking
Corporation
Westpac
Banking
Corporation

13,236,234

17,704,308

10,778,604

14,141,759

918,529

9,784,737

876,795

4,497,400,982

9,784,737

187,951
158,790
183,028
169,151

106,839

155,728

115,524

135,732

135,297

100,475

43,972

1,850,565

2021

2021

2021

2021

2021

2021

2021

2021

2021

2021
2021
2021
2021

2021

2021

2021

2021

2021

2021

2021

2021

20

20

20

20

20

20

20

20

20

20
20
20
20

20

20

20

20

20

20

20

20
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(126,116)

(170,677)
(102,788)

(134,648)

(8,648)

(94,077)

(8.467)

(43,307, 286)

(92,887)

(19,474, 461)
(16,905,332)
(18,989,149)
(17,617,400)

(11,053,341)

(16,148,399)

(11,961,284)

(14,077,629)

(14,140, 390)

(10,552, 655)

(4,655,500)

(191,461,346)

(1,803) (1,803)

(4,400) (4,400)

(1,557) (1,557)

(1,830) (1,830)

1) 1)

(2.180) (2,180)

(232) (232)

(1,068,267) (1,068,267)

(990) (990)

5,049 5,049
18 18
4,684 4,684
3,691 3,691
3,028 3,028
4,064 4,064
3,185 3,185
3,517 3,517
2,492 2,492
1,366 1,366
248 248
52,385 52,385
83,727 (1,081,280)  (997,553)
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NB
2021 28
2016 12 16
2012 10 15

2009 a CIMA

2017 22

LLC
2020 12 CIBC
UFJ UFJ PB

FASB ASC

946

GAAP
GAAP
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2021 28

2021 28
64,226,401 64,226,401
301,148 301,148
64,527,549 64,527,549
2021 28
1,348,429 1,348,429
1,348,429 1,348,429
FASB ASC 740

50
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86 6,624,322 66 4,148,959
38
10,466,797 75 2,088,296
)
)
)
¢) > )
FX
2020 29 48,282,613 29,189,271 77,471,884
942,032 2,095,841 3,037,873
(9,918,060)  (6,309,995)  (16,228,055)
(1,343,063) (952,129)  (2,295,192)
1,584,201 981,465 2,565,666
2021 28 39,547,723 25,004,453 64,552,176
2020 29 519,204 2,751,993 3,271,197
10,045 201,749 211,794
(106,107) (599,424) (705,531)
2021 28 423,142 2,354,318 2,777,460
2021 28 93.46 10.62
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10.00
10,000
10

2021 28
2021 28 43,697

10
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ASC  815-10-50

a b
c
ASC 815
ISDA 1SDA
1SDA
2021 28 MNA
MNA
(€)]

Citibank NA 5,132 (4,394) 738
Goldman Sachs 8,461 8,461
Royal Bank of Canada 1,026 1,026

State Street Bank And Trust Co. 216,122 (216,122)

Westpac Banking Corporation 70,407 (70,407)
301,148 (290,923) 10,225

2021 28 MNA
MNA
(©)

Citibank NA 4,394 (4,394)
State Street Bank And Trust Co. 261,038 (216,122) 44,916
UBS AG London Branch 1,557 1,557
Westpac Banking Corporation 1,081,440 (70,407) 1,011,033
1,348,429 (290,923) 1,057,506

@
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2021 28
301,148 (1,348,429)
2021 28
(2,060,663) (2,894,122)
0.65
0.30 0.35
2021 28
459,128 2021 28 30,243
0.08 2.5
0.07 2.5
0.06
80,000
0.015
15,000 2021
28 10,970 2021 28 23,750
0.05
2021 28 35,318
2021 28 5,260
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2021

28

68,377

FATCA/CRS

1970

2021
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2021 28
COVID-19
CoVID-19
12
13
FASB 2018 28 ASU 2018-13 820
ASU 2018-13 ASU 2018-13
ASC 820 an
entity shall disclose at a minimum at a minimum
ASU 2018-13
ASC 820
2019 12 15
14
2021
2021 2021 493,066
1,543,442 381,798
2021 2021 212,588
4,236,706 258,321
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MEUB CORPORATE HYBRID SECURITIES FUND

STATEMENT OF ASSETS AND LIABILITIES

February 28, 2021

[Expressed in United States Dollar, unless otherwise indicated)

ELoiil
Iraestrmend ins dircurition, at walue foodd ol LSO 60 M0.81R) LIS G PREAN
(=1 1360457
Foresgn cunfendy, at valus [oode af LSO 3, 568, 501) 1,568 5325
il for invesimants wokd 1180482
Receivable for Units Based 15, 284
Ienest fecetwable BF555
Wnrealoed Spgeaciation on forwand foveigr curfercy exchange contracty #0148
Tenal aswetn 72401933
Lishiktien:
Payable for Units redesmed FLE
Py aldia o inveatments purchased 6,341,000
strued distrBuionrs bl 6537
tconyed custodian and sub-administrator’s fees A3 436
serqued mshagement ees 30,743
duoryed professgral feet %500
Arorued frustees fesy 13,750
rerued Sent (oMY [es 5160
Aconed reghiration feed 1,784
Unreaked depreciation on forsand foreipn oementy excPange ooeareos 1,348,439
Aecaudd SR ST 5177
Totad Habdbi s 7,933,755
Mot dusits Attributable to Unisholder [Fil=] i 550190
Anabysis of Net Aot
Paidin capital (Wita} 63,925851
iiturulated ditrbutend in ety oF nid ireesteees Indome (4. 550 .024)
tcoumulated net reafized gains on invessments and foreign curvency transactons and forwand

foreign curmency exchangs contracts 2ITEI00
et wnrgalied sgpreciation on i nrns and focesgn curiendy randataans and lforeard

foerign cumency exchange contracts 254
et dmety Attributable to Unkhalder o ST 176
it Aneit Vakes par Usi
(27 Cland 97 &, P1E AL, S08 » 47T, 147 Uity outitanding) i 2557
(UST Clacia LISD 35,004 453 # 2,354 308 Units outs=anding | Lis0 bi.63

The aceomparying nates are an integral part of these financial statements.
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MEUE CORPORATE HYBRID SECURITIES FUND
STATEMENT OF OPERATIONS

For the Year Ended February 28, 2021
[Expressed in United States Dollar)
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IrvEismEns Incoma:
Inenest
Total Frvestment ndome

Expanses;
Dt oo s
Managemant feai
Custodian and sub-administrator's fees
Agent company’s firey
Frodendonal fees
Trustes lees
Transher apent fees
Regintration i
nhar sxpirass

Total Experges

et Invintreint Incoms

Rualined and Unrealined G [Losses]:
Rpaliped gard i)
INvEsHmEs in SeCuTites
Fediigm Cuftenoy raniactions and faswaed foreign duirency sxthange COnINacs
Met realised losses
Change in | P Videpreciation)
HYVBSIITIETH S i SECLTTES
Foreign cwrnergy ransactions. and forward forsgn curmency exchange conbracss
Mot change in unreskined npginecia ton
Met realieed and unrealived pasns

et increape in net assets resulsing from operation:

UsD 2 5
2004415

459,179
&5
178574
353108
Lt
10,570
10,332
L

1713854
THLATL

1,500,555
|1,967,389)
{PeT.034)

5,802,522
|LBHY A3
2,540,129
1,773,095

LIS L 565 50

The aceomparying nates are an integral part of these financial statements,
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MEUBE CORPORATE HYBRID SECURITIES FUND
STATEMEMNT OF CHANGES IN NET ASSETS

For the Year Ended February 28, 2021
[Expressed in United States Dollar)

Incredne [ecreaes] in Wed divets from:

Oiparattons:
et irwekimant incoe LISD 25T
Wt realed lowes [T67,054)
Kt changs i urrealiced Jpgeeciation 540,129
Kt moneane in net avieds redylting fram apeeations 2 555 BBE
Daributieed 1o Unitholder:
297 Clans 8,343 001
S0 Class 952,129
Tostad Distritestiong [FFTENEH
Caphtal Transactions;
Linies g d
PR Clang (10,045 Urita)] S 0AT
LISD Qlass (1YL, 789 Umits] 055,841
Lievics ed cdned
AP Claas (106,107 Units] (218 D60
LISD Class (559, 424 Units] (5,309,995
e decrease i Nl kiaels neaulting from capial ransactions I::IEIBD.LB?
Total Dacnsase in Nat Adiets (12,919, T0E}
et Ausetac
Baginning of year TTATLREL
frd of year LSO 64,552,176

The aceomparying nates are an integral part of these financial statements.
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MEUE CORPORATE HYBRID SECURITIES FUND
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

For the Year Ended February 28, 2021
[Expressed in United States Dollar)
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Cach flows from operating activities:
W] ImCrgane in nel aseets ipsulting fram agerations

ad o] il i e iy A BRI Rifg Trom i £o B Laih

ridd by

aparating Scthith:
Porchase of vestrierts.
Prooeeds lrom sabe and mabstitg of irnves mments

e aepatirataon and {eccretion] of premiums and distounty on corporate deb obkgations and shor term

ety
Rpaliped qaies O ifve SmEnts B SECurities
Change in unrealiced Spprecation on Fvedtments.
Change i unresliced deprecation on forward foresgn currency excharge contracts

Change in sxety snd lakilties related 1o opration:
Decrease in intenests recewable

Increase i sccrued oxitodian and sub-adminisienonrs bee
Becragie n aconmed prafessional feel

norease i accrued trutes fees

K i mcrued 1 the fees

Decregee in aconed management fees

Decrease in aconsed diviribuior’'s fees

DReenaie in aciiued SEent Campiy's e

Indrease i Sidrued sther anpenies

et canh provided by operating scthitiey

Cavh Tlows wied in financing actvities:
Froceeds from Linins svsed

Py imidsnl i Lits s ed
Distributiora paid to Lnitholder

et canh used in financing scthitie

Net incroase incanh and foredgn camency

Cask and foreign cumency at begirrirg of year
Carh and foreign currency ot end of year

usR 2,565,668

(44,528,255
65,428,337

555,368
[1,200,555]
(5402 522)
2,894,173

402,927
1w
(24,07
10,950
1,661
111255
[19,038]
[b.464)
L]
FLETRITE

044,579

(12,692,323

2295192
L]

The accomparying neotes are an integral part of these financial staterments,
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MEUE CORPORATE HYBRID SECURITIES FUND

FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS

For the Year Ended February 28, 2021

Selected Per Unit Data and Ratios

[Expressed in United States Dollar, unless atherwise indicated)

1P Clasa WSD Clasa
Forthe Yesr Ended  For the Year Ended
Febsnaary 28, 3021 February 28, 7021

Mot Aaset Walue, beginning of year I 10081 USD 1061
Kt iPvestmant income’ 10 0.a2
Nt neakined and yerealized gaing ur a2s
HOET WPCTEE i DL BRLETE nesLting Trom operations 236 0.7
Less diatributisns (300 {036}
Het hiset Value, end of year L 9,957 ush L0.62
Total return bR b LEIN
Rt usppplom ental dazy

Rt sty e of year (00 - 4200414 LSD 25004

Rath of espenses to aeemage net assets™ L% L11%

Rtk af Pt iineeilerde? Rsdie 16 bk ige Pat aaaeti (KL LA

= Calcalated using airage Uiniss cotstaeding bor the year,
“Calulated o0 80 annual basi

Ther accompany ing notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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MEUE CORPORATE HYBRID SECURITIES FUND
PORTOLIO OF INVESTMENTS

February 28, 2021

[Expressed in United States Dollar)

Prifi ipsl ool Net
Curriney & Security Dancripth Assets Faie Valua
FINED HRCOME SECLRITEES (55, 5% )
AUSTRAILL [2.3%)
CORPORATE BOMNDS & NOTES [2.57%|
B Balbon Finanoe Lid

(1) B0 000 G0 dese BO/TTR PR LG 5800, 755
TOTAL CORPOSATE BONDS & NOTES. _'_HMI"
BILGRIRA |0.4%)
CORPOIATE BONDA & MNOTES [0,4%]
ks Syities Operater 54,
R 200,000 TS b 05,33 az 127,106
Sobewy 5.4,
A1 100,000 A 1% de D042 a2 13964
TOTAL CORPIRATE BOMNDS & NOTES 57090
TOTAL BELGILIM 57 S0
CORPORATE BONDS £ NOTES {6.05]
Erkradge, lnc,
Liso 3,30 000 5 S chest (3711577 (%] 3,354,198
S0 360,000 D0 g O 15,77 L1 -l
Trwracanads Trnt
usa 200,000 S chos 08 1547 o LI04KT
TOTAL CORPORATE BONDS & NOTES 358415
TOTAL CANADA 3,E58.415
EHMMAAEE (2,75}
CORPOIATE BOMDS £ NOTES |0.0%)
Cirited A5
EUR 450,000 0 desy B1°34/27 [k 570, TED
TOTAL CORPORATE BONDHS & NOTES S0, TE
TOTAL DE NKLARK 570,789
FRARCE {16.4%)
CORPORATE BOMNDS & MOTES [16.4%)
Ariging 54
(214 400,000 TSN, das D6/ 172400 o8 L7385
larra 54
(110} a0 B TES dhoe 3T %] REE. -]
Elagtreiss de Francd 54
(2123 00, 000 33T, chasr D6 15,301 a8 502,183
GR# &, B0 D07 s 129, 20 33 1817 1M
Engis 54,
B 200,005 1 3% chas O 1G5 a2 132571
Orangs 5.4
BR 155000 5.19% chesg D2 M0TTA01 03 L
TOTAL SE
BR 00,000 BETS dhast BOSISIT 15 LE
HR a0 o0y B TES dese 05,08/ 2311 a2 115518
Uiraibail: Rosfarrce- Wi tiekd 55
A L0000 2.1T% desr 07/ 25210 rLE 122, T80
‘Weoha [rnircnnirsent S.A,
EUR 2,700,000 2SI o (Y1 202 50 3,235 479
TETAL CORFORATE BRONES & NOTES 10,09 161
TOTAL FRANCE 10,009,101
GERMANY [LOLEW)
CORPORATE BOMDS & MOTES [10U6%)
Bnpid &G
R 3545 D00 2395, e 040075 T3 4, 741173
[L10] 300,000 2.09% der 1111273 s 6,180
Tt huraren §4 & Co. KGah.
EUR H00 B0 A0 b O3S i5 ¥ A5E
EnEW Energie Baden Wieritemberg 45
(=101 | [Lekeee] 353% dese 40076 nz 171550

The accomparnying notes are an integral part of these financial statements,
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MEUE CORPORATE HYBRID SECURITIES FUND
PORTOLIO OF INVESTMENTS [continued)
February 28, 2021

[Expressed in United States Dollar)

Principal %of Nat
€ v A Security Duseripth At Faiir Vialus
FIXED INCONAE SECLRITIES {99, 5% ) [continued)
GERMANY (L0L8%] (oontinued]
CORPORATE BONDS & MOTES |10.6%) [contimued)
Tennik induntriey MG
Em Sr005 2195 dha DTN Lo [FL%] A6, T
TOTAL CORPORATE BOMOS & NOTES [Tk T
TOTAL GERMENT 5873265
ITALY [5.0%)
CORPORATE BONDE & MOTES |5 00]
Enl Spd
EUR LEGT.OD0  2.50% dee 08/ 24337 i6 2,354,092
ENF S
am 00000 3. 3a0% dei 07/ 1T 1a 7565
TOTAL CORPORATE BOMOS & NOTES o 3PS
TOTAL ITALY 3 FLEST
LLIE WAL (3.9%)
CORPOIATE BOMDY & MOTES (1. 15)
Arpuraltcown LA,
B 300,000 LGN dhuse 04 16 s ETT]
Grand Ciy Properies Sb
Eus 400,005 0% che DR 1L as arisss
TOTAL CORPORATE BONDS & MOTES B20.458
TOTAL LUKEMBOLIRG _ EMSER
METHERLAMD'S |15.8%)
CORPORATE BOND'S & NOTES [15.8%)
ELW B For Farenich bfornubonal 5.4,
it IREO00 TN de (03500 [ 1 ]
v el St ieshal BY
EUm ADOODD LIV dee DLA2E2E a8 857 051
TenneT Holding BV
s A0 2.5 g OO 212501 &n 1wy
EUR 00000 300N due D3MLIET az 137,501
‘Wotkrwag on inderna tional Finance MY
R LIOOO00 0% dee B2/04/720 L1 L85
R 2000000 R, chs 06 1002701 48 LIIL1ME
TOTAL CORPOSATE BONDHS & NOTES 10135361
TIIALICTHEANDS S
SWEDEN [LO.5%)
CORPORATE BOMOS & MOTES [10.55)
Fastighits A% Balder
EUR SI0000  ZET e D6/0/EL a7 521,153
Wiahe Treaauny A2
415 A0P000 AN dese O3 1057 Lt ] 536,138
TOTAL CORPORATE BOMOS & NOTES 6,760,191
TOTAL SWEDEM £,750. 291
LINITED EIMGOOR | 24.1%)
CORPORATE BOMNDS & NOTES [24.1%)
8 Capit sl Metarionts PLC
EUR LITEO00  LERN tea D3I A 2051157
Britiih Tolsoorrrtiiim o PLC
B U, 000 LETS tuse 06/ 15,50 13 B8, 730
Contnca PIE
(LT} 00,000 B0, chsa (el 10T o Fan Ay
MGG Fingnde PLE
GER AMLB00 5B d D6/ LB LY 50055 906
55E PLD
usn LFISO00 A TS dee D9/ 16,77 ] L 78,083

The accomparying notes are an integral part of these financial statements,
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MEUE CORPORATE HYBRID SECURITIES FUND
PORTOLIO OF INVESTMENTS [continued)
February 28, 2021

[Expressed in United States Dollar)
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Principal %of Nat
Curremey A Security Duseripth At Faiir Vialus

FINED IRCEM SECLRITIES {99,505} [comtinued)
WINITED KIRGDOH (24.1%] (oontinoed]
CORPORATE BONDS & MOTES |24.0%) [contimued]
Wadafona Groug P

B AOBOOOG 3100 de 0005079 0% L] 3,72 S
TOTAL CORPORATE BONDS & NOTES 15,570,077
TOTAL LINTED KIMGIOM 15,570,072
WINITED STATES [6.1%]}
CORPORATE BONDE & MOTES [6.54]
LM Erwgw Corp

usn LADSODD 375N des 2/0LS0 t ¥] 1,408,933

usn LEISOD0  &.75% due O6/OLS0 19 L5765
Ertavprise Product Operatng LLC

w50 TILOON 53RN dee 00/15/TA 1t 6, ¥
Saniithadin L

uso GOOODD 4000 due 0111551 1 624,628
TOTAL CORPORATE BONDS & NOTES 575
TOTAL UNITED STATES 1,875,605
TOTAL FEXED IRCOME SECURITIES {Cout U0 60,240,8LE] 4,136,401
TOTAL INVESTMENTS [Cost LD 60,240, §18) LGN (1] £4,726,401
CASH AND OTHIR ASSETS IN ENCISS OF LLARLITIES as 5,77
NET ASSETS, 200N uso 64,552,176

3 Parputual wecurity, Mahwity dete prevented represents the ra call dade
0 e ity date o i wecurity B L1017,

Ther accompany ing nntes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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MEUE CORPORATE HYBRID SECURITIES FUND
PORTOLIO OF INVESTMENTS [continued)
February 28, 2021

{Expressed in United States Dollar)

Funed Leswe| Forward Forelgn Currency Exchange Coniracts

Met Usnealived
Notional  Setthement ional L ed lired pprecistion)
Amount _ Daw Sull famount ___Apprecanion [Daprecistion) (epreciation)
FUR Gtk hS HESH O4/MYMUL  GBF (104,385 LD 3 ED 4,504] Usa [TEE]
EUR  Gokdman Sath SE 6T OAPIVRIZL  USD [70,513] B - S
EUR  Royal Bank of Canada 18EZEI G4 USD 117581 285 - 245
EUR  Royal Bank of Canada TES6ME OATAVARL  USD {139, 7ax) Eerd - T
IR State Sireet Bank fnd Ting Co, IETHEE GRNIL WED {204,725 = L] i
EUR  Mate Sureet Bank And Trunt Ce. LESOS O4/DOMR0FL  USD [L505.212) 10,357 - 10357
EUR  State Street Band &nd Trust Co. 23IB6031 GA/RNROZL  USD [2.801,531) . 112,323 [12.322)
EUR  Hate Sreet Rank And Tnnt Co, SLTO SRV S0 2 ) ] - M
EUR Wistpee Baniang Corporatian LRG0 G4/l USD [HG1HSA5) = 16,3461 46,158}
EUR Wit Bunliing Carperation IR0S5 DAL WSO [rA ] 1 - 122
GAP  State Seet Bank Snd Trnt Co. I0EAFS OARARL  USD 1145 274) 13IM - IM
USD  Citibank N 1ASF AAEIL Y {ss.324) 61 - 61
UED S1ate Street Bank And Trnt Co. ARIZEEAS DAVAOVMGL  FLe AR A50, 435] 1raEE - 174 545
USD State Stree? Bank And Truit Co, RLTTERS AR Pl [0 ABH) 28761 - 20,761
USD  State Street Bank fnd Trust Co. S90S (42002001 GBR 8031, 547) - [241254) [2a1,Em)
USD  Weabpar Banking Corporation 19261 D4V EUR 151,305 - (1764 L Te)
WD RRAal D (RET.aaE) UsD a8 T
1P Hedged Class Fonward Foregn Curiency Exchange Conbracts
Mit Usfealiped
Hoticral  Setthement Metional Unrialed Umrdalired  Appreciation)
Buy _Coumerparty Amaant Date SLI Amount tion  [De
P Slate Sireed Bank And Trunt Co. IR IM R0/ UED (136,116]  LHD - sl ILEGE] LSD {1.803;
PY St Street Banlk And Trns Ce. 17704308 QAVROVAGL WSO 11T0ETT) - 14,400 4,400
JPY A5 &G London Branch (2] 1102, 785 - 1357 1557}
Y Watpes lenking Corporation 104, 7% oSa0iail USD 1104 648) - (TR 10| LAY
IPY Wiktgee Bankbeg Conporatian SLESHY AFAVMUL USD (8, 648] = 1] it
Y Weitpor Bunking Coiparation 0784737 CAREONL  LISD {4077] - [2.930 {2 1R
Y WWeabpar Bardoeg Corporation VBT DAMYANQL  USD [8,467) - 123z) 233}
Y Weshpeo Banieng Corporation 4457 400,960 0ASAVRO1 USD 43,307 1386] - 10,068, 357) |10 267)
WY Westpss Ranfang Corporation TR T AV S0 55T - [ie] L]
USD  Giibank WA 187950 OATBVARE T 115,474,451 5 045 - 5 S
USD  Gobiman S 1SE TR0 D4fAARL  BY 15,506,337 12 - 1=
WS Gokiman S 1BL0ZE O4FAVART  UPY 118,289,148 a5 - A58
Wl Goldman Sacin 16 ASE  CHVROSMRL PY EREATEE 1] ham = e
W5l Wintgue Banibieg Conporatian 1G6RYS O4/ROFMQL Y 112,053, 341) 10eE - 0k
WSO Wiritpar Saniong Corperation 15573 AAVAOL BV {15, 148,394 4061 E A6
USD  Westper Banking Corparation NS5M DAL PY 10,951,284 3,185 - 3,185
USD  Weitpde Ranking Corporation FE L PP L {107 ) 1517 - L LI
USD  Weilgue Baniing Corporation 135297 O/MORRL B 114, 140 3940] raay = rAGY
WSO Wiitpar Banking Coiporation ID0ATS O4PINVARL  UPT 10,552,655 1366 - 1368
USD Weshpor Baniang Corporation A35T2 OADOFRIRL Y 14,655, 500] F - 248
S Westpas Banking Corporation LASOSES G4/2O0f2021  JRY (L9088 4G 52385 - 528N
LSO A3TIT  USD (L030380) USD  [9O97.553)
Curreny legend
(1L} Lurs
L Brilinhs Peaandd
i lagustarse Yen
(L) S Decillar

The accompanying notns are an integral part of these financial statements.
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MEUB CORPORATE HYBRID SECURITIES FUND
MOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the Year Ended February 28, 2021

ORGAMIZATION

NEUBE Corporate Hybrid Secarities Fund (the “Fund™] & a series trust of the Nikko AM Offthore Funds, an openrended unit
trust estabished by a supplemental trust deed dated Decemiber 16, 2006 {the “Supplemental Trust Deed” ), wader the laws
of the Cayman (stands. Nidoo AM Offshare Funds was established by a master trust deed dated October 15, 2012 (the
“Waster Trust Deed™), under the laws of the Cayman Islands and is loensed with the Cayman tlands Monetary Authority
pursuant to section 4{1Ha) of the Mutual Funds Act {3009 Revision). The Fund commenced operations on February 22,
207

The Fund's Jasets ane managed on & diy to day basis by Nicoo Al Global Cayman Limited [the “Manager”), The Manager
delegates Investment management duties to Niko Asset Maragement Co., Uid., {the *Irvesiment Manages®). The
Iveestrsend Manager delegates investment management duties to Meaberges Berman investment Advisers LLE, {the “Sub-
Ivapstment Manager"), The administration of the Fund is delegated to Brown Brothers Harriman & Co. {the “Custodian®
and "Sub-Administrator”], a limited partrership onganited under the laws of the State of New Yark,

Thie irvestment ebjective of the Fund is 10 achisve & mid te lang verm tatal retwen through inceme and capital sppreciation,
Thir Series Trust shail madnly inwest in both investrent grade and non-investment grade Fybrid securities that ane issued by
nan-fnantial corporate isuers and have been rated by elther of Moody's, SEP or Fltch. The highest rating from all theee of
these agencies shall be applied to each corporate hybeid security and the average rating of the portfolic shall be BBB-/Band
o alboee,

Carporate bybrid dedt securities are structured irsbruments ERat combine bath equity and fixed income characteristics that
gemerally offer a means for ssuees to borrow money froem Brvestors im return o interest paymients. Such corporate Bsuers
may wtiliee bybrid debt for a variety of reatons, Including bolitering their capital levels, lowering their welghted average
cost of capital, dversifying their funding sowrces and managing credit ratings. Thowgh terms and conditions have become
increasingly standardired, the specific characteristict of each instrument (such 3 payment conditions, the ratio of debt and
eguity-ike features, time frames and apalicable rates) can vary,

Thi: Series Trust may alsa invest in fixed and Noating rate debl securities, including bonds, issued by povernments and
gowernment related entities.

Derivative Instruments will be used for efficient portiolio management and/for investment purposes, 25 well as for hedging.

The assets of the Seres Trust may be held in one or mone currencies, and the Series Trust will, In prindple, engage In
currensy hedging between the currenty of denomination of each Class (U5, Dollar for USD Class and Lapanese Yen for JIPY
Class) and the currency of the Imvestments in the underlying portfolio, provided, however, that such hedging for JPY Olass
mruy be parformed through the U5, Dollar,

Unders the terms of the Supglemental Trust Deed and The Madter Trust Deed, FirstCarbbean Infernational Bank and Trust
Company [Cayman) Limited {formedy CIBC Bank and Trust Company [Cayman) Limited up to March 12, 2000) [the
“Trustee” and the “Administrator) s named a3 Trustee of the Fund.

Thit Manager appointed Mitsubishi UF] Morgan Stanley PB Sedwrities Co, Lbd te act a5 Agent Company [the “Agent
Company®] and the Manager appointed Bitsubishl UF) Mongan Stanfey PB Securities Co., Ltd to act as Distribator {the
“Ristributos”) of Linits im Japan o such other person or institution as may De appoimed a3 distribunor of the Series Trust by
the Manager from time ta time.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The Fund Is an investment Company that follows the accounting and reporting guidance in FASS Accounting Standards
Codification 946,

tiee of Extimentes
The accomparyéng financial statements have been prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally acoepted in
the United States of America ("ULS, GAAPT). The preparation of finencial staterments in accardance with U5, GAAP requines
the Fund's management to make estimates and assumptions that alfect the reposted amounts of assets and llablities and
disclosures of contingent assets and liabllites a1 the date of the fmanca statements and the reported amounts of
rivenues and sxpenses during the reporting period, Actual resuls, incleding the ultimate amount realived upon the sale of
fair walued investments, could differ from thode estimates and such differences may be significant.
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MEUBE CORPORATE HYBRID SECURITIES FUND
MOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMEMTS {continued)
For the Year Ended February 28, 2021

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES [continued)

Fosis of Accownting

Security and contractual traniactions are recorded on a tradefcontract-date basis. Interest income Is recorded on an
effective yield basis, net of any apalicable withhalding tax, Interest expense nd other expenses ane recorded on an accrual
basis. Realized gains and lpsses from security transactions are computed on the basis of the average cost of the seourities
seid or covered, Changes in the valuation of investments ane recarded in the Statement of Operations a5 unmealiped
appreclation or deprecation.

Volustion of fovestmenis

Bonds and other delt securities, incladnag restricted securities [other than shom-term oblgations but including listed
issues) are fair valued at their last sale price in the prindpal market in which such securities are normaily traded, on the
basis of valustions furnished by @ pricing service, wse of which has been approved by the Ivsestment Manager, of if no sale
has oocwrred, the bid price on the valuation date as provided by brofoers who are masioet makers in the securlties. All debt
securmies with bess than 12 manths e maturity date, in principhe shall be fair valued using aa amenited cost offected by an
efective yield accumulatedfamortization method to their maturity date with adjustments based on comparispn with
rbiiEl Beiced 34 required,

In pecordance with the suthoritative guidance on fair value measurements snd d@sdosures under U5 GAAP, the Fund
disclases the fadr value of its investments ina hierarchy that prioritizes the inputs to valuaton techriques used to measure
the fair value, The hierarchy gives the highest priedty to valuations based upon unadjusted quated prices in active markets
for identical assets or Habilites {Level 1 measwement) and the lowest priorty to valuations based upon uncbsenable
inpats that sre significant 1o thie viiubtion (Level 3 melduremeati]. The puidanoe sttablishes thres levels of the fair value
Merarchry as follows:

Eevel 1 = Inputs that reflect unadjusted quoted prices in active markets for identic) insestments that the Fund
Fuas the: ability to stcesd at the mesdunement date;

Level 2 - Impuls other than quated priced that are significant and obiervable for the asiel or lability either
directiy or indirectly, including inputs in markets that are ot considered bo be active;

Lol 3 = Inuds that are significant and wnobierdable,

Inputs are used in applying the vasoud valustion technigues and Brosdly refes 10 the assumplions that market panicipants
e bo ke waluation dedsions, nduding asemptions about risk. Inputs miy inclede price infarmation, specific and broad
wredit datd, liguidity Stistics, ond athes factors, A finantisl instrumem’s lived within the fair valee Merarchy is based upen
the lowest level of any input that is significant to the falr value measurement. However, the determination of what
oondlutes “obiervable” redguires significant judgment by the Investrment Mansger. The Investment Manager considers
oservable dats to be market dats which & readily avallable, regularly distributed or updated, reliable and verifiable, not
progristdsy, and provided by independent sources ERaL e actively invalved i the relevant marker, The cabegorization afa
financial imstrument within the hieraschy is based upon the pricing transpacency of the instrumsent and does not necessarily
oorreggend 0o the Innediment Manages perosivied risk of that indtrusment.,

Inveestrments whote values are based on the guoted market prices in active markets, and therefore classified within Level 1,
would include activeldy traded equities, certain LS, povermmsent and sowvereign obligations, and certain mosey mariet
securities. The Irvestment Manager would ot sdjust the quoted grice for such instruments, even in situations where the
Fund held 2 large position and a sale could reasonably impact the guoted price.

Ivestments that trade in markets that are not considered 1o be active, but are valued based on quoted market prices,
dealer guotations or alternative pricing sources supported by observable inputs are classified within Level 2, Theds inclsde
investment-grade debt securities, short-term Imvestments and forward foreign currency exchange contracts, & Level 2
investments indude positions that ane not traded in acthe markets andfor are subgect to transfer restrictions, waluations
muay be adjusted 1o reflect Squidity andfor non-transferability, which are generally based on avallable market information,

Ivcestrrsends classified within Level 3 have significant unobservabie inputs, 34 they would rode infregquently, Level 3
instruments would include asset-backed securities and collateralized mortgage obligations. As observable prioes are not
ivailabie for these securities, the Fund would use valuation techaigues 1o deive the fair valee,

The inputs or methadelagy whed for valuing securities e nat necessadly an indication of the risk assacated with investing
inthose securities.
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MEUE CORPORATE HYBRID SECURITIES FUND
MOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMEMNTS (continued)
For the Year Ended February 28, 2021

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES [continued)

Waluetion of lavestanents {eantimued)

Thi following table presents the financial instruments carried on the Statement of Assets and Liabidities by caption and by
level withen the valuation Rierarchy s of February 28, 2021 Further classifications of the financial indtruments are
presented in the Porfoio of Investments, There wire nd mosements between levels during the year,

Mivati 5t Faic Value Falr Wahii 4%
Ll 1 Lirwed 2 Ll 3 Fadruary 28, 7031
Fingd Ingame Securities sl - ush B4, 215 400 D . L 64,226 400
Forward Foreign Cumincy
Ewchange Conracs - 301,148 - 300,148
Teaal s = ED B4,527 549 AED - s 64,527 549
Liaksiknies an Fair Vales Fair Valus ax
Lol Lorved 2 Lecel B Februgey 24, 2021
Forward Fonegn Cumency
Exehisingi Comlrieti LS - L5 Le420 L] = [0 L43.420
Tetal L - =1 1048409 [T - [T LMs 439

Fareign Currengy Transfotion

Assets and Nabilities held In currendes other than United States Dodlar (SUSD° or the “Functional Currency™] are translated
by Ehee Functional Currency at the rate of exchange prevailing at the financial staterment date. Income and expenied are
translated at the rate of exchange prevaBing at the date on which the income or expense |5 incurred. Reallred and
unreiliped gend snd lodses arising o foreign currency trandactions sre inclisded in the Statement of Operations in the
peviod n which they occwr.

The Fund does not lzolate that portion of the results of operations resulting from changes in foreign exchange rates on
investrents from the fluctuations arising from changes in market priced of securitied held. Swuch fluctustions ane included
with the net realized and worealfired gain or loss from investments.

Income Towes

Linder the current fws of the Cayman lsfhands, there are no incomes, withholding, capital gaing or other tanes payable by
the Funed, In certain jurisdictions other than the Cawman islands, foreign taces may be withheld a1 source on dividends and
interest received by the Fund. Capital galres derived by the Fund In such jurisdictions generally will be exemnpt from foreign
income o withholding taxes 3t scurce, The Fund intends to conduct its alfaiss such that it will not be subjedt 1o income 1ax
inany jurisdiction. Ad a result, no provision for income toess has been made [n the financial statements. Unitholder may be
tamed on their proportignate share of the Fund's tax basis income based an their individual cirgamstanoes,

Thie Fuenvd Tollows the authormative guidance on accownting for and disclodure of wncertainty in ax poddtions [Fromtial
Accounting Standards Board [*FASE") - Accounting Standards Codification 740, which reguires the Manager to determine
whether & tax position af the Fund is more Foehy than not o be i upan inati By the applicable Caxing
authosity, including resolution of any related appeals or litigation processes, based on the techalcal merits of the potition.
Fir Thx posifions meeting the mare [oply han not H“!hﬁld, the tax benedit recognited in e financial sTatements is
reduced by the largest benefit that has a greater than fifty peroent felihood of being reafred upon Witimate settiement
with the relevant taxing suthority. The Manager has determined that there i3 minimal or no effect on the fnantial
staternents being under this authoritative guldance.

Farward Foreign Currency Exchange Controcts

Thi Funl may enter inte forward Toreign currenty eachange contracts b hedpe sgainst foreign currency exchange rate
risks on all or a portion of non-USD denominated imvestments or for efficient portfolle management purposes. 'When
erenng into 8 forward foreign currency exchange conlract, the Fund agrees to receive of deliver 8 fiosd quantity of
foreign currency for an agresedeuspon price on an agreed future date. These contracts are valued dally, and the Fund's net
equity therein, regresenting unrealized aporeciationf{depreciation] on the contracts as measured by the difference
berween the forward foreign currency exchange rates at the dates of entry inte the contracts and the ferward rates at the
reparting date, i inchrded in the Statement of Aswets and Liabilities. Realized and unreafised gaing and fodses sre induded
in the Staterent of Operations,

Thisse instruments invalve markel fsk, coedit sk, o both kinds of risks, in excess of the amownt secognezed i the
Staterment of fudets and Liabllities, Risks arise from the poatible nabilty of counterparties to mest the terms ol thalr
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MEUE CORPORATE HYBRID SECURITIES FUND
MOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMEMNTS (continued)
For the Year Ended February 28, 2021

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCDUNTING POLICIES |[continued]
Farward Forelgn Currency Exchange Controcts (canifaued)

contracts and fram meavement in currency and tecurities values and interest rates, In addition to the class level hedging,
the Furd had realized losses of UISD 4,148,959 on 86 Torward forelgn cemency sxchange contracts dusing the year with an
sverage notional of USD 6,624,322 and an averspe term to maturity of 65 days. The Furd also had reafired gains of USD
2,088,296 on 38 forward foreign curmency exchange contracts hild a1 the Class IPY Hedged level during the year with an
average notional af USDr 10,466, 79T and an average berm to matwity of 75 dad.

Cash and Foreign Currency
Cash and foreign currency comprises all curency held with Brown Brothers Harriman & Co,, and overnight and othwer shon
term placements with other fnamclal Institutlons,

UNITS

The net assets of the Furd are divided into 1PY Cass Wnits and USD Class Units, The Units ane denominated in Japanese Yen
and United Stated Dollar. FPY Clags Units and USD Class Units are available to an efgble investor who B any person,
carparation or entity which i not {I) a citizen or resident of the U5, a partnership coganized or existing in the LS, or any
carparation, trust o other entity organized wder the liws af or existing in the US; (i) resident o domiciled in the Cayman
Islands [exduding ary ofject of a charitable trust or power or an exempied or noneresident Cayman Glands com pany); (5}
unisbie 1o subieribe for or hold Lnits without violating appficable laws, o (v} 3 custodian, nomines, o trastee Tar any
person, corporation or entity described i [i) to (iil) abowe, Both the JPY and USD casses share proportionately Inthe gains
and lonses of the Fund bevel investrments. I addition, the JPY class receives gaing and boxses fram the FX farwands held at
thie IPY Class leved for hedging pumposes. Refer to Note 1 for fusther details on the Fund's curnency hedging strategy.

Thie Manager may debermine to issue one or mone classes of Units of the Fund without prior notion to or written consent of
the Unitholder.

Allaf the net assets attributable to JPY Class Units and WSD Class Units are held by ane Uinitholder.

Y Clida LD Cladd Tatal Fund

Balance a2 February 29, J20 usD 43,282,613 USD 39,189,271 USD  77ATLES4
Subseriptions durieg 1P prar foFRIER] 1,005,541 10375873
Redernptions during the year 19,918 0ely 6,209,395 {16, E28,055)
Dt o L343.063) [2532,129) 2,795,192}
Wed irorease In net asseds resulting from operations. 1584 g1 465 2,505 G54
W Assets o Febwuary 18, 2021 5D ¥.547,7F3  USD 35,004,453 USD &455E1TS
Number of Units in daue 22 Febrosey 39, 200 10,004 L1515 Lanasr
Lanks bsuwed during the year L0085 201,743 211,74
Lanieg red neenied during the year (10, 807} (59424 TG, 531}
Wusnber of Lindts in ksue a0 Februsy 38, 2008 423,143 2,354 318 2,777 450
et Adset Walue pev Uit 32 Februsty 28, 300 usp 9346 USD 1]

Suhseriptions for Units

USD Class Unins were first issued at an initial issme peice of USD 10000 per Unit. JPY Class Units were first issued at an initial
issue prioe of IFY 10,000 per Unit. On and after initlal closing day, the minimum initiad subscription for LSO Class Uaits per
subseriteer is 10 Units o moce, and in multisles of 1 Uit thereadter, The minimuen initial subseription for JPY Class Units
per subscriber & 1 Unit or marg, and kn mutiples of 1 Units thesealter,

The Manager may waive or change the minimum indtlal and additlenal subscription amounts set forth above & its sole
dizcretion from time to time.

Sotes Chorge
In addition 1o the subscription price, the apahicant shall pay & sades charge cadtulated at up 1o 3% {ﬂtludiﬂd any Taa
apolicable) of the purchase price, to the Distributar.
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MEUE CORPORATE HYBRID SECURITIES FUND
MOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMEMNTS (continued)
For the Year Ended February 28, 2021

UIBITS {eantimibd]

Liait Redemplions

The Fund recograines fedemationt in soordinde with 1he puhesitative guidince on distinguishing Fabilities Froem [T 8
Redemptions, whether expressed as United States Dallar, lapanese Yen or Units, are recognized as Sabilities when each of
the Waited States Dedas, lapanese Yen and UsT amowls reguested in the redemption notioe becomes ficed, which
generally may occur either at the time of the recelpt of the notice, or on the [ast day of a flscal year, depending on the
natane of the feguest. A 3 resalt, redemptions paid alter the end of the year, but based upon year end net J5sets are
refiected as redemptions payable at February 28, 7021, There were USD 43,657 of redemptions payable as at February 28,
2021, included a5 Payabie for Wnits redeemed Tn the Stanernent of Assets and Liabifies,

Repurchose of Units

Each Unsthalder may request a sepurchase of Units by the Fund unless repurchases have been suspended by the Mamager.
Units will be repurchased dally at the Net Asset Value per Uni as at the refevant Aepurchase Day (each Valuation Day, or
such oither day or days as the Manager may from time 1o time determine in respect of the Sedes Trust), There will be no
repurchase charge on repuarchases of Units hild over five years.

Campulsary Redemplion

Ir the event that the Trustes or the Manager thall determine that sny Units off any Class of a Serfes Trudt ane being held by
o« for the benefit of 2 person who is not an Eligikle bvestor for such Series Trust o that such holding would couse the
Trust o the Seres Trust to be required to register, be subject to T or viotate the laws of any jurisdiction, or if the Trustee
of the Manager has reason to doult the legitmacy of the source of monies used to fund the wbscriation or purchase of
susch Units, or for whateses rieason (which may not be disclosed by the Trustes or the Manager to Unitholder) that the
Trusbes or the Manage: considers appnop at its absalute discretion having regard to the interests of the Unithelder af
the relevant Cladd or the Unftholdér af the Seried Trust &8 5 whale, then the Manager, after consuttation with the Trintes,
muy dinect the holder thereod 10 el [subject (o the provisions described bedow in the section headed “Tramsfer of Liaits®)
such Units within 10 days and provide to the Trustee and the Manager evidence of such sale, falling which the Manager
fraary fisdesm such Units,

Termination aff the Fand
Upan termination, the Manager witl realize all the assets of the Fund, and after paying out or retaining adequate provision
Tor all liabiities propesty payable and retaining provision for the costs of the termination, the Trustee shall distribute the
proceeds of that realization to the Unitholder proportionabely bo thesr respective interests in the Fund a5 of the date of
termination of the Fund.

Dhstributions to Unitholder

The Mansger may, in its sole discration, dedase disbib and no guarantee i made that these will e place,
Distributions will be declared on each Distribution Record Date and calculated on each Ex-Distribution Date. Distribution
Period is 8 period commencing from the catendar day following the preceding Distribution Record Date and ending an and
inclisding the Distribution Recard Date. Thie distributions will be paid on the relevant Distrbution Payment Cate, provided
that such amaunt (Il any) declared with respect 1o each Class of Units shall only be padd out of the Series Trust's net
Income, realized and unrealized capital gaing and avy distributable funds of the Serles Trust attributable to such Cass of
Units as determined by the Mandger,

The declaration of distributions to Unithofder reduces the Class Level Het Asset Value per Unit withowt any corresponding
change in the number of Class Level Urits per Unitholder, This results in & Uaithalder's overall investment i the Fusd
being reduced. in addition, any distributions during a year which are in exoess of the Fund's net increase in net astets
resulting from eperations results in b portion of the distritution being return of capital,

The amount of distributions, o amy, will be determined by the Manager in its sole discretion, aad Ao reprEsentalion of
puarantes is made that a distrioution will be made [n respect of each or any Béstribution Pericd.

Capltalization

The Met Asset Value per Unit i3 calcwlated for each Dealing Dy [each Yalwtion Day, or such other day or days 33 the
Manager may from time to time determine in respect of the Series Trust), by dividing the difference in value between the
Fursd's fidts and llablities [eluding accrued feed and expénies of the Fund) by the number of Units cutitanding.

The Trust Deed tipolates that the number of Uit to be iLaeed in the Fund dhall be mlimited a5 the Manager thall
degermine and shal be without par value.
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MEUE CORPORATE HYBRID SECURITIES FUND
MOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMEMNTS (continued)
For the Year Ended February 28, 2021

DERPVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

Aecounting Standards Codification BI5-10-50 requires disclosures about derivative instrements and hedging activities, it
requires that the Fund disclose: a) how and why an entity uses derivative nstruments, b)) how derivative instruments and
related hedged items ane accounted far arl €] how dedvalive instruments dad related hedged items affect an eAtiny's
financial position, financlal pedormance and cash fows,

The Fund transacts forwand derbrative instruments primarily for hedging purposes with each instrument’s primary risk
expaiune being foreign exchange sk, The forward foreipn curtenty exchange contacts held by the Fund do not gualify as
hedges for accounting purposes under the requinements of ASC 855, The fair value of these derivative nstruments is
inclisded in the Statement of Assers and Liabifties with changes in fair value reflected ps realived gainsflosses) or net
change in unrealized aporeciationf{depreciation) on derivatives within the Statement of Dperations (Note 2).

The Fund may enter into an International Swaps and Derivative Asseciation, Inc, Master Agreement {“ISDA Master
Agreement”] with its counterparties in order to mitigate countesparty risk. The B0A Madter Agreement is typlcalby
negotiated by the Fund and its counterparties, comtaining the bi-laterad verms and conditicns for ali subsequent devivative
transactions: The IS0W Master Agreement aTows for the netting of all amounts owed to or due from counterparty into a
single net payment il a credt event or defauh showd oocu,

Thie Furrd has elected ta not effset fair value receivables and payabies for derivative contracts on the face of the Statement
of Assets and Liabilities,

At February 28, 2021 the Fund had entered into the following derivative assels by counterparty net of amounts available
for odfsey under & Master Neting Agreement [“MNA"]} and net of any collateral received by the Fund:

Dbt Asiati Bt Mon-cih Cak Mat Amount of
Counterparty Subject to 3 MNL_ Available for Offset Collateral Recebved Collateral Recehved Deriathoe doet’
Citibank %A ush LXE-NT] 4,354 USD -usD ] EET]
Gobdman Sachs EA451 - - - 8,461
Reryal Bank &f Canada 1,006 = = = 106
Seate Straet Bank And Trust Co, e 1216130 - - -
Wapad Barkang Conporation 70,407 |0 40T - - -
Tatal usD 300,148 W50 A1) USD -usD ~usD 10,275

At February 28, 2021 the Fund had entered Into the following derdvative Sabilitles by counterparty net of amounts avallable
for cdises under & MKA and net ol any colfatens! pledged by the Fand:

Dertvative Mt Amosnt of

Liabditeet Derivatives Mon-Cath Cash Derivathne
Counterparty Subject o o MK vailable fer Offiet Collstors] Modged Colltersl Padiged  Lisbilias®
Citibadl A S0 4,450 T LSS = LIS =50 -
Stane Sermet Rank And Trust Co. 1008 jai6arn = = T
LiB5 AG Londos Branch 1,557 - - - 1,557
Wedtpas Barking Covparation 1,081 440 (P0407) - - 1,081,033
Total LS 1, 348E 45 5D 290,923 USD =50 = LI5S0 1,057,506

| Mot amcunt o guats the oot smcund furysbhe S B v i Hhe cracird e dedialt

it February 28, 2021 the Fund hid entered into the fotiowing dervatives:

Assit Dertvativis Liaihiliry Do rhea thees
Derivatives Statement Statement
Kot Aecounted for i -of Ausuty and of Aataty snd
Hedging Instrumants Lishilithes Location Falr Wil Liabilities Location Falr Value
Forward Sontign cetrency  Linrealined appreciation Urreslized depeecistian
exchange contracts ‘on foreard foneign on forward loreign
|Curnerey Rik | turniney fxchange sk WA cuirenoy enchange i (L HEAI
I:L"H ﬁl’ilm
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MEUE CORPORATE HYBRID SECURITIES FUND
MOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMEMNTS (continued)
For the Year Ended February 28, 2021

DERPVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS {eontinued)

Thie effect of derivantive instruments g the Statement of Operations fer the year ended Febrary 28, 2021:

Change in Unrealizad

Location of Raalized Agpreciation or
Derivathees Mot Accounted  Gain o [Loss) Galn or [Loss) [Depreciationd an
fot s Hedging instrumanty  on Derhartivin o Derhthe Buptivatived

Mt realiced kses on forward lorsgm
Forward foreign oerrancy Currirey eRcRAnEE cortracti;
exchange contracts change in urreakoed appreciation |depreciation]
| Curreney Beil ) o lorwiiind foreiphn cuimeny Bahangs conlisds  USD (2060663)  USD [2,894,037)
MANAGEMENT FEES

The: Manager is entitied to receive out of the assets of the Series Trust a management fee of 2 total of 0653 per annum
10,305 per annum in respect of fee for the Manager and the lnvestment Manager and 0,35% per annum in respect of fee
for the Sub-dnvestment Manager) of the Met Asset Value accraed on, and calculated as at, each Valuation Day and payable
msanthly (m arears, In additon, the Manager is alse entitied 1o be reimburied out of the assets of the Series Trust for any
expenses incurned by it in the proger pedormance of its powers and duties as permitted wnder the Master Trust Desd,
Durinig thie yide ended February 28, 2021, the Mangger edned feed of USD £50,128 of which USD 30,243 i1 saill
outstanding as of Februany 18, 2021,

Thir Manage: will pay the Tees of the Investment Manager out of 15 fees, The Envestment Mamager will pay a fee 10 the
Sub-investment Manager out of the fee received by thie Ineestment Manager.

CUSTOMAN AND SUB-ADMINISTRATOR'S FEES

The Fuend has a custedy and accounting agreement with Brown Brothers Mardman & Co. (the "Custodian™ and “Sub-
Administrater™) for which the Custodan recesves a fee calculated and paid monthly based on tofal assets and transaction
i,

The Custodian and Sub-Administrator is entithed to receive out of the assets of the Sedes Trust an adminstration fee
|mcfuding transfer agent fee) caloulated based on the Net Adset Value as at each Valuation Day at the following annual
rate!

» 0.08% up to fand including] SD 250 millon;

- QAOTH up o (a3nd including] LISD 500 milion;

« QLSS v SO SO0 million.

In addition to the dbove NAV baged lee, there is 3 transactional based fee charged, which varies depending on the valume
of Eransactiona.

Such administration fee s payable monthly in arreass, and subjedt 1o the minimam sanaal fee of USD BOUO00. In addition,
the Custodian and SubeAdministrator & also entitied to receive customary safekeeping fees and trangaction charpes. Al
out-ol-pocket expenies of the Custodian and Suo-Administrator shail also be borme by the Seres Trust,

TRUSTEES FEES

Thi Trustee (s entitled 1o réceive out of the aisets of the Sedies Trust & combined fee at the rate of DO15% per annum of
the Net Asset Walue acorued on, and calculated as at, each Valuation Day and payable sem=annually Inarnears, subject to a
minimen anaud fee of USD 15,000 During the year ended Februany 28, 2021, the Trustee samed fees of USD 10,970, of
which LISDr 23, 750 is <till outstanding as of February 28, 2021

AGENT COMPANY'S FEES

Thie Ageat Company 4 entithed 10 reoeie out of the atsets of the Series Truse o fee at the rate of 0058 pir 3amum of the
Mt Asset Value socnded on, and ca'cusied as ot each Valuston Day and payable quirterly in arreas, Dusing the year
erded February 28, 2021, the Agent Company earned fees of USD 35318, of which USD 5,260 is still cutstanding as of
February 28, 2021.

HETRIBUTOR'S FEES
The Distrigutor & entitied to receive out of the assets of the Series Trust a fee at the rate of 0U65% per annum of the Net
st Valee acorued on, and caltwlsted ai 51, each Valuation Doy and payable quarterly in arrears. During the yesr ended

Febeyary 28, 2021, the Distributor earned fees of UBD 459,129, of which US0 68,377 is still outstanding as of February 28,
201
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MEUE CORPORATE HYBRID SECURITIES FUND
MOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMEMNTS (continued)
For the Year Ended February 28, 2021

OTHER FEES AND EXPENSES

The costs and expenses in connection with the establishment of the Series Trust and the offering of the Units, together
with the establishment of the Trist, inclsding the costs and expenses of preparing and printing any prospectis or
explanatory Brochures requined, are estimated 1o amoant 1o spprodimately USD 180,000, Such costs and expenses will be
amoetized within the first fwe {5} fnandal years of the Series Trust unbess the Trustee decides that some ather method
shall be apphed. The Administratar feceives USD 1,500 per annum for FATCA f CRS complinnce s rvioes,

FInARCLAL RISKE MANAGEMENT

The Funid's activities eapose it to a wariety of fnandal rdsks: market risk {including price risk, nterest rate risy, and currency
risk), credit risk and liquidity risk,

Market Risk
A investrments present a risk of loss of capital. The investment Manager moderates this risk through a careful selection of
securdtins and other financial instruments,

Thie Fund's irvestment management goocess is described in Note 1. The primary determinant of the Fund's abTity 1o meet
its nbjective of mid to long term capital appreciation while eaming income is dependent of the pedformance of the
inyestment in the Underlying Fund

Thie Fund™s imastment mandgerent prooess is desdribed in Nobe 1, The Fund's 0werad market poditons ane monitored on
a dally basls by the Fund's Investmenk Manager.

The value of the Fund's ivestments s affected by a nuember of factars, including but not Emited to, changes in the wider
ecoaomy, financial and cwrrency markets, fOFeig currency Bxchange rates, inbBAesE rate movements snd the oredi ratings
of debt Issuers,

The Fund may enter into forward foreign currency exchange contracts which to vanding degrees represent a market risk in
exoess of The amount reflected on the Fund's Statement af Assets and Liabifities, The notional amount of the contract
represents the extent of the Fund's participation in these Ninancial instrum ents, Market rishs assocated with such contracts
arite dise to the posdble mowvements in forelgn exchange rated underkying thede nstrumenti.

Other market and credit risis include the possibilitg that there may be an illiguid mardoet for the contracts, that the change
in the value of the comtract may nat directly cormelate with changes in the value of the uadeddag eurrendies ar that the
tounterparty to a forsard contract defaults on it obligation to perform under the terms of the contract. The Fund's
exposune to boss due to counterparty non-gerfarmance on epen forwards foreign cerrency exchange contracts is limited to
the unrealited appreciation inherent in such financial instruments which are recopnined in the Statement of Adsets and
Liabilitips.

Irterest Rate Rk

The Fund's exposune to changes in interest rates relates primarily to the Fund's Inestmends in debt securities contracts.
Inerest rate Nugtuntians may also affect the fair valee and pricing of derivative instruments purchased of sold short By the
Fund. The Investment Manager continuously mondtors the Fund's exposiure to interest rate risk and the Fund's overall
interest sensivity on 8 regular basis

Creddit Risk

Cradit risk repredents the patentisl losi that the Fund would incur if the counterpartied or Suers of debt securities faled
te perform pursuant to the terms of their obdgations (o the Fund, For exchange-traded contracts, the exchange acts as the
tounterparty to specific transactions and, therefore, bears the risk of delivery te and from counterparties of specific
pasitions. The Fund's manag W does not consider that credit rsk related to open dervative comtracts will have material
adhrerse effect am the Fnancal condition of the Fund.

‘Whille boih the LS. Bankruptoy Code and the Securities Investor Protection Act of 1900 seck to protecd cusbomer property
in the event of a failuce, insodaency of Bguidarion of an institution, thene is no certainty that, in the event of a failure of an
institution that has custody of Fund assets, the Fund would not incur losses due to [t5 assets being unawvallabie for a peried
of veme, ultimately bess than full recowery of its assets, or both, Because all of the Fund's cash is in custody with a single
institution, such lpsses could be significant and cou'd materially Impair the ability of the Fund bt achicve its investment
objective, The Fuad i subject 1o eredit risk 1o the extent that this. institstion may be unabbe to Tuifill its obTEations to repdy
ampunts avwed.
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MEUE CORPORATE HYBRID SECURITIES FUND
MOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMEMNTS (continued)
For the Year Ended February 28, 2021

FINARCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT [continued)

Liguidity Alsk
Irwessbors Shiowld be dware that the value of Units might fall as well a4 fge. laviedtment inthe Fund invohves a degres of risk;
there can b no assurance that the Fund's investment chjective will be achieved,

Thie Fund is expased to dally repurchase of its Units but management believes that the Fund has sufficlent resources to
meet the present and forewseable needs of it business operations and, If necessary, the liquidity to fund reparchases and
achicye @ market positon appropeiately reflecting a smaller capital base, This pesiticn 5 monaitored coatinaally by
management to enture that the Fund has the ability to meet its obSgations.

At February 28, 2021, substantially all the inwestments of the Fund were traded in the over-the-counter market.

Currercy Risk

The Fund halds investments denaminsted in USD, which i the Fund's functional and presentational currency, However,
the Fund expects to hedge lapanese Yen, the value of the Fund's net assets attributable to IPY Class. A% a nesult, the Fund
will inewr gaingTostes on ins forwand foreign cusneney exchamge contracts wiich ane ued 1o hedge the IPY Class niet Bssets
to Japanese Yen, and such gainsflosses are fully alocated to JPY Class, All such IFY hedging gains/fiosses have been
refiected B the total returns as p d in the Fi ial Highiights and are included in realized and unrealized
palnzflosses In the Statement of Operations. Refer to Note 1 for further detalls on the Fund's currency hedging strategy.

The Investment Manager moanttars the Fund's currency exposure on a daily basis,

Qrher Aisk

[sring the wear, the (OVID-19 outbreak was declared a pandemic by the World Health Organization. The situation s
dymdmic with various cities and countries sroand the werk] I'!'Sﬂﬂldif‘ in difesent wilys 16 addoess the outineak, The
rapld dewelopment and flukdity of this sltuation precludes any prediction as its uitimate Impact, which may have a
cominued BEverse Mpact om etandmic and market condithons and rigger a pericd of global eponomic slowdown.

Thie Trustee and | et Mansger are itoring developments relating to COVID-19 and e coordinating their
operational response based on existing business continulty plans and on guidance from global healrh onganirations,
relevant govemnments, and general pandemic response best practices.

COPMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES

In the normal course of busieess, the Trustee on behalf of the Fund may enter into confracts that contain a variety of
represeatations and warranties and which provide penersl indemnificstions, The generad indemnaifications apply nat anly
to the extent such representations and warranties are untrue but also may cover third partfes such as the Fund's
Administeates, Audar of vestenent Manages for claims relaed 1o the services performed Tor the Fumd, The Trustes's
maKimum exposune wnder any such anmangements £ uncnown, 25 CAPOSUre Ony arises 0 the extent fidure claims that
have ot yet pecurned are made against the Trstee. Hewesr, baded on mperience, the Trustes sapects the sk of fos to
b remate.

RECENT ACCOUNTING FROMDUNCEMENTS

0 Ausgust 2H, 2004, the FASE issued an Accounting Standards Uipdate, ASU 200813, Fair Value Measurement (Topac 820):
Msclosure Framewore-Changes to the Disclogure Requirements for Fair Value Measurement ["ASLU 2008-137). ASU 2018-13
mendifies the disclosure ohjective paragraphs of ASC 520 to efminate (1) “at a minimum® from the phrase “an emity shafl
disclose at a minimum® and {2} other similar "open ended® disclosune requirements to promaote the aporopriate exercise of
discretion by entities, ASU 2018-13 also eliminates and modiics other requirements under ASC 820, The update is effective
fior all entities for fiscal years, and interim periods within those fiscal years, beginning after December 15, 2019, Earby
Bpglicaion is penmitted,

At This time, it is ot anticpated that these changes will hawe 39 impact on the findncial statementi.
SUBSEQUENT EVENTS

Managemant performed a sutsequent events review up to July &, 2021, which [y the date the financial statemants were
avnilabie 10 b isgued,

Effective Manch 1, 3021 through July 6, J21, these were subscriptions of USD 453,066 and there were redemptions of USD
1,543,442 in respect of Class JFY Units, There wiene destributions of LISD 381, 758 in respect of Class JPY Linits.
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MEUE CORPORATE HYBRID SECURITIES FUND
MOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMEMNTS (continued)
For the Year Ended February 28, 2021

SUBSEQUENT EVENTS {costirued)

Effective Masch 1, 2021 threugh luly 6, 202 1, thiene were subscriptions of USD 212,588 and there were redemptions of USD
4,136,706 in respect of Class USD Linits. Theve were distributions of USD 258,321 in respect of Oass USD Units.

Thiere are nd othes Significant Bvents o fepart as thay relate to the Fund
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2020 29
NB
2020 29
78,136,729 76,719,790 8,483,674
72,503 8,017
122,258 123,346 13,640
212,381 23,485
21,990 2,432
1,232,522 136,292
1,978,730 218,808
80,361,262 8,886,348
2,507,965 277,331
87,415 9,666
53,310 5,895
43,324 4,791
41,501 4,589
12,780 1,413
6,724 744
123 14
131,889 14,584
4,347 481
2,889,378 319,507
77,471,884 8,566,841
77,116,043 8,527,492
(3,087,403) (341,405)
3,039,735 336,134
403,509 44,620
77,471,884 8,566,841
5,208,004, 048
519,204 10,031
29,189,271
2,751,993 10.61 1,173
110.58
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NB
2020 29

3,582,433 396,145

3,582,433 396,145

627,790 69,421

627,789 69,421

177,345 19,611

48,292 5,340

24,832 2,746

15,484 1,712

12,704 1,405

3,272 362

16,855 1,864

1,554,363 171,881

2,028,070 224,264

(2,392,925) (264,610)

1,466,342 162,148

(926,583) (102,462)

5,606,512 619,968

3,287,858 363,571

8,894,370 983,539

7,967,787 881,078

9,995,857 1,105,342

110.58
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NB
2020 29
2,028,070 224,264
(926,583) (102,462)
8,894,370 983,539
9,995,857 1,105,342
(1,768,803) (195,594)
(1,291,114) (142,771)
(3,059,917) (338,366)
32,615 2,973,194 328,776
224,384 2,403,235 265,750
254,925 (23,589,948) (2,608,576)
2,186,392 (22,910,038) (2,533,392)
(41,123,557) (4,547,443)
(34,187,617) (3,780,467)
111,659,501 12,347,308
77,471,884 8,566,841
110.58
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NB
2020 29
2016 12 16
2012 10 15
2009 a CIMA
2017 22
LLC
CIBC
UFJ PB
FASB ASC

946

GAAP
GAAP
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12

GAAP

2020 29
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2020 29
76,719,790 76,719,790
1,978,730 1,978,730
78,698,520 78,698,520
2020 29
131,889 131,889
131,889 131,889
FASB ASC 740
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78 9,198,347 65 3,782,488
31
18,117,405 83 2,216,201

)
)
)
() ) )

2019 28 64,448,072 47,211,429 111,659,501
2,973,194 2,403,235 5,376,429

(23,589,948)  (22,910,038)  (46,499,986)

(1,768,803) (1,291,114) (3,059,917)

6,220,098 3,775,759 9,995,857
2020 29 48,282,613 29,189,271 77,471,884
2019 28 741,514 4,714,001 5,455,515
32,615 224,384 256,999
(254,925)  (2,186,392)  (2,441,317)
2020 29 519,204 2,751,993 3,271,197
2020 29 92.99 10.61
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10.00
10,000
10

2020 29
2020 29 2,507,965

10

2017
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ASC  815-10-50

a b
c
ASC 815
ISDA 1SDA
1SDA
2020 29 MNA
MNA
(O]

Citibank NA 1,936,492 (22,534) 1,913,958
Goldman Sachs 15,136 (7,803) 7,333

Royal Bank of Canada 10,149 (10,149)

State Street Bank And Trust Co. 14,779 (14,779)

Westpac Banking Corporation 2,174 (2,174)
1,978,730 (57,439) 1,921,291

2020 29 MNA
MNA
(©)

Citibank NA 22,534 (22,534)

Goldman Sachs 7,803 (7,803)
Royal Bank of Canada 14,555 (10,149) 4,406
State Street Bank And Trust Co. 32,776 (14,779) 17,997
Westpac Banking Corporation 54,221 (2,174) 52,047
131,889 (57,439) 74,450
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@
2020 29
1,978,730 131,889
2020
1,566,287 3,312,621
0.65
0.30 0.35
2020 29
627,790 2020 29 41,501
0.08 2.5
0.07 2.5
0.06
80,000
0.015
15,000 2020
29 15,484 2020 29 12,780

102/193



EDINETOOOO
OO000DO00oDOo00DOo0OooOodnE27078)
Ooooooooooooooooooad

0.05
2020 29 48,292
2020 29 6,724
0.65
2020 29 627,789
2020 29 87,415
10
180,000
FATCA/CRS 1,500
11
1970
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2020 29

12

13
2020 26
2020 2020 26 60,696
1,262,614 475,520
2020 2020 26 827,780
639,449 330,807

CovID-19

2020 11 2019 COVID-19
() ( )COVID-19
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NEUEB CORPORATE HYBRID SECURITIES FUND
STATEMENT OF ASSETS AND LIABILITIES
February 29, 2020

{Expressed in United States Dollar, unless otherwise indicated)
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Asgals:

Ivsestments 5 securites, at walue [cost of USD 78,136, 729)

Casn

Foreign currendy, ot valoe {oos of USD 122 258)

Resceivable for investments seld

Reciivable For Units isswed

Interest receivalie

Unnga sed aparecation ea loneed faneign carrency exchange coatracls
Todal asaets

Liahilities:

Payable for Uails redeemed

Apcrued dabToutors Tees.

iecrued professional fees

Accraied custodan @il sab-adminstratoss lees
Agcraed manegement lees

Acrued rustee fees

Aecrued agent company's fee

Accrued registration Tees

Unrpaoed deprecialaon o lorwasd fameign currendy exchange contracs
Sacraed olher expemes

Todal liabilitses

Nt Asatd Attrilbutable te Unitholder
Anatyiis of Net Assats:

Paid in caginal
Accumulated dstrioution ineeces of net ivestment come

Accumulated net realzed gains on imaestmeents and Toregn currency transactons and foreard

Ty EEChange covlacs

Kt wirialiped 3507 ecilion an irmealmesls 3ad lodegn cusrency i matUon 3nd losward

CUITETCY eRchange conlacts
Mt Assets Attributable 1o Unitholder

Mt Asset Vaheo pr Unit
P Class JPY 5 208,004,048 + 519,204 Units outstand ng)
{USD Class WSD 25,189,271 + 2,751,553 Units cubstanding)

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial state ments.
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L&D 76,719,790

72,503

113 346
212 381
21,530
1232522
1978730
B0, 360,262

2,507 365
B7 415
53,310
43,324
41501
12, 7&0

6,724
123
131 883

2 BR9.I7H

D TTATLERL

usD 7116043

{3,087,403)
3039735

A03 509

Jt] TTATLEBL

g
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NEUB CORPORATE HYBRID SECURITIES FUND
STATEMENT OF OPERATIONS

For the Year Ended February 29, 2020
{Expressed in United States Dollar)

EDINETOOOO
OO000DO00oDOo00DOo0OooOodnE27078)
Ooooooooooooooooooad

Inwastmant Income:
Interest
Tetal lavestment Fgamne

Expaeiia:
Management fees
Distriairtor's fees
Custod an and sub-adminstrator's fees
Agent company's fees
Predessional feos
Trusbee fees
Transfer agent fees
Regstration fees
Ohver eapenies

Total Cxpenses

Nt Insnestmaent Incomss

Realized ard Unrealiced Gaing/iLasies);
Ry oee] prinires [l )
Imeestrnents in securities
Fareign currency transactions and forward foreign cusrency exchange contracts
et nealized losses
Change inunrealiped sppeeciotica{dege scation)
Irpeestrments in securities
Fareign currency tramsactions and Torward foreign currency exchange contracts
ket chaqge inwarealized sppredation
Kt realized and wirealized gains

Nt incre e in nat assets resulting from aperations.

[157+] SE2 433
3,583.431

627,790
627,789
177,345
452192
24,832
154584
12,704
3372
16855
1,554 163

2028,070

12,302 535)
1,366, 142
26, 583)

5,606,512
3 XE? B56
B B0 170

7967 TR?

UsD 9,905,857

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial state ments.
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NEUB CORPORATE HYBRID SECURITIES FUND
STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN NET ASSETS

For the Year Ended February 29, 2020
{Expressed in United States Dollar)
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Inseriaiis [Dierenid] in Mot Assats fram:

Operations:

Ket investment imgome

Mot realized losses

Kot change ia uneealised agaredaticn

Ket incremse imnet assets resul ting from operations

Distronwtons o Unitholder
1FY Class
LSO Class

Total Distributions

Cagital Transactsons:

Units ssued
IV Class {32,615 Units)
USD Class {224,384 Unis)

Units e med
1PY Class {254,925 Unis)
USDClass {2, 186,302 Units}
Ket decrease in net assets reswting from caipitsl tranaactiom

Tetsl Decrease in Met Asits
Nt Assads:

Beginning al year
End al year

usp 2028070
926,583}

B 594 370

9,995 857

{176 ENI)
11291 114)
13.059.917)

2473194
2403235

(23,589 48]
422.910.038)

(41,123,557)

{34,187 617)

111653501
Usp JTATLERA

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial state ments.
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NEUBE CORPORATE HYBRID SECURITIES FUND
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the Year Ended February 29, 2020

1, ORGAMIZATION

MNEUB Corporate Hybrid Securities Fund [the “Fund”) is a series trust of the Mikko AM Offshore Funds, an open-ended unit
trust established by a supplemental trust deed dated Decernber 16, 2016 (the “Supplemental Trust Deed™), under the kaws
of the Cayman Islands. Nikko AM Offshore Funds was established by a master trust deed dated October 15, 2012 (the
“Master Trust Deed”), under the laws of the Cayman Islands and is beensed with the Cayman klands Monetary Authonty
pursuant bo section 4{1ja) of the Mutual Funds Law (2009 Revision), The Fund commenced operations on February 22,
2017,

Thie Fund's dssets are managed on a day to day basis by Nikko AM Global Cayman Limited {the “Manager”). The Manager
delegates imvestment management duties to Nikko Asset Management Co, Ltd., (the “Investment Manager”). The
Irviestment Manager delegates investment management duties to Neuberger Berman Investment Advisers LLC, (the “Sub-
Investment Manager™). The administration of the Fund is delegated to Brown Brothers Harriman & Co, (the “Custodian”
and “Sub-Administrator”], a limited partnership organized under the lws of the State of New Yark,

The investrnent objective of the Fund is to schieve a mid to long term total return through income and capital appreciation,
The Series Trust shall mainly invest in both investment grade and non-investment grade hybrid securities that are issued by
nan-financial corporate isswers and have been rated by either of Moody's, SEP or Fitch. The highest rating from all three of
these agencies shall be applied to each corporate hybrid security and the average rating of the portfolio shall be BEB-/Baad
o abave.

Corparate hybrid debt securities are structured instrurents that combine both equity and fixed income charactenstie: that
penerally offer a means for issuars to borrow money from investors in return for interest paymaents, Such corporate issuers
may utilize hybrid debt for a variety of reasons, including bolstering their capital levels, lowering their weighted average
cost of capital, diversifying their funding sources and managing credit ratings. Though terms and conditions hawve become
increasingly standardized, the specific characteristics of each instrument (swch as payment conditions, the ratio of debt and
equity-like fisatures, time frames and applicable rates) can vary,

The Series Trust may also invest in fixed and floating rate debt securities, including bonds, issued by governments and
Rowemment related entities.

Derivative Instrurnents will be used for efficient portfolio management andfor investment purposes anly.

The awets of the Series Trust may be held in one or more currencies, and the Series Trust will, in principle, engage in
currency hidging between the currency of denomination of each Class (U5, Dallar for USD Class and Japanese Yen for JFY
Class) and the currency of the investments in the underlying portfolio, provided, howewer, that such hedging for JPY Class
may be performed through the LS. Dollar,

Under the terms of the Supplemental Trust Deed and the Master Trust Deed, CIBC Bank and Trust Company [Cayman)
Limited {the “Trustee” and the “Admintstrater”) is named as Trustee of the Fund.

The Manager appointed Mitsubishi UF] Morgan Stanley PB Securities Co., Ltd to act as Agent Company [the “Agent
Carmpany”) and the Manager appointed Mitsubishi UF] Morgan Stanley P8 Securities Co., Ltd to act as Distributor (the
“Dristributor”) of Units in Japan or such other perion or institution as may be appointed as distributor of the Series Trust by
the Manager from time to tirme.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The Fund is an Investment Company that follows the accounting and reporting guidance in FASB Accounting Standards
Codification 946.

Lise of Estimates

The accompanying financial staternents have been prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in
ther United 5tates of America (U5 GAAPY). The preparation of financial statements in accordance with U.S, GAAP requires
the Fund's management to make estimates and assumptians that affect the reported amounts of assets and labilities and
disclosures of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the reported amounts of
revenues and expenses during the reporting period. Actual results, includ ing the ultimate amount realized upon the sale of
fair valued investments, could differ fram those estimates and such differences may be significant.
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NEUBE CORPORATE HYBRID SECURITIES FUND
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
For the Year Ended February 29, 2020

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES {continued)

Batis of Accounting

Security and contractual wansactions are recorded on a trade/contract-date basis. Interest income & recorded on an
effective yield basis, net of any applicable withholding tax. Interest expense and other expenses are recorded an an accrual
basis. Realized gains and losses from security transactions are computed on the basks of the average cost of the securities
sold or coversd. Changes in the valeation of investments are recorded in the Statement of Qperations as wnrealized
appreciation or deprecistion.

Valwation of Investments

Bonds and other debt securities, including restricted securities [other than short-term obligations but including listed
isaues) are fair valued at their last sale price in the principal market in which such securities are normally traded, on the
basis of valuations furnished by a pricing service, use of which has been approved by the Investméent Manager, or if no sale
has accurred, the bid price on the valuation date as provided by brokers who are market makers in the securities. all debr
securities with less than 12 months ta maturity date, in principle shall be fair valeed using an amortized cost effected by an
effective yield accumulated/amortization method to their maturity date with adjustments based on comparisan with
markat prices as required.

In accordance with the authoritatiee guidance on fair value measuremients and disdosures under ULS. GAAP, thi Fund
discloses the fair value of its investments in a hierarchy that prioritizes the inputs to valuation technigues wsed to measure
thar Fair walue. The hierarchy gives the highest priority to valuations based upon unadjusted quoted prices in active markets
far identical assets of labilities [Level 1 measurement) and the lowest priarity to valuations based upon unobservable
inputs that are significant bo the valuation [Level 3 measurements), The guidance establishes three levels of the fair value
hierarchy as follows:

o Level 1 - Inputs that reflect unadjusted quoted prices in active markets for identical investmants that the Fund
has the ability to access at the measurement date;

= Level 2 — Inputs other than quoted prices that are significant and observable for the asset or liability either
directly of indirectly, including inputs in markets that are not considered to be active;

= Lavel 3 - Inputs that are significant and unobsenable.

Inputs are used in applying the various valuation techniques and broadly refer to the assumptions that market panticipants
use b make valuation decisions, including assumptions about risk, Inputs may include price information, spegific and broad
criedit data, liquidity statistics, and other factors. A financial instrument’s level within the fair value hierarchy & based upon
the lowest level of any input that is signficant to the fair value measurement. However, the determination of what
constitutes “observable” requires significant judgment by the Investrnent Manager. The Inwestrment Manager considers
obsersable data to be market data which is readily available, regularly distributed or updated, reliable and verifiable, not
praprigtany, and provided by independent sourcis that are actively invohed in the rebivant market, The categarization of a
financial instrument within the hierarchy is based upon the pricing transparency of the instrument and does not necessarily
correspand to thie Investrent Manager's perceived risk of that instrument.

Investments whobe values are baded on the guoted market prioes in sctive markets, and therefore classified within Level 1,
waould indude actively traded equities, certain LS. government and sovereign abligations, and certain money market
secufities. The Inwestrment Manager would not sdjust the guoted price for such instruments, even in situstions where the
Fund held a large pasition and a sale could reasonably impact the quoted price.

Irvestments that trade in markets that are not considered to be active, but are valued based on quated market prices,
dealer quotations or altefnative pricing sources supported by abservable inputs are classified within Level 2. These include
Imvestment-grade debt securities, short-term irvestments and forward forelgn currency exchange contracts. As Level 2
irvestments include positions that are not traded in active markets and/or are subject to transfer restrictions, valuations
may be adjusted to reflect illiquidity and/or non-transferability, which are generally based on avallable market information.

Investments classified within Lewvel 3 have significant unobservable inputs, as they would trade infreguently. Level 3
instruments would include asset-backed securities and collateralized maortgage obligations. As observable prices are not
avallable for those securities, the Fund would use valuation technigues te derive the fair value,

The mputs or methodology used for valuing securities are not necessarily an indication of the risk associated with Investing
in those securities.
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NEUBE CORPORATE HYBRID SECURITIES FUND
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
For the Year Ended February 29, 2020

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES {continued)

Valvation of Investments fcontinuved)

The fallowing table presents the financial instruments carried on the Statement of Assets and Liabilities by caption and by
level within the valuation hierarchy as of February 29, 2020, Further dassifications of the financial instruments are
presentead in the Portfolis of Investments. There were no movemants between levels during the year,

Aswels at Fair Value Fair Walue at
Livil 1 Lival 3 Liwiel ¥ Febinoncy 29, J020
Faed lncome Securities UsEe = uso TE. 19,790 usp = usp 76,719,730
Forward Foreign Currency
Exchangs Comtracts - 1,978,730 - 1,978,730
Totsl LIS0r = LISD TEAIE.S5 20 LIS0 = s TR.638. 500
Lizbilities at Fair Value Waaeat
Liswiel 1 Lowel 2 L 3 Fibeuiary 39, 2000
Forward Foneign Carrengy
Lachange Contracts LISor - UsD 131,885 UsDh - s 131, &0
Total usc - USE 131 B85 153+ = uUsh 131,559
Fareign Currency Transiation

Assets and liabilities held in currencies other than United States Dollar (“USD" or the “Functional Currency™) are translated
to the Functianal Currency at the rate of exchange prevailing at the financial statement date. Income and expenses are
translated at the rate of exchange prevalling at the date on which the income or expense is Incurred. Realized and
unrealized gains and losses arising on foreign currency transactions are included in the 5Statement of Operations in the
period in which they occur.,

The Fund does not isolate that portion of the results of operations resulting from changes in foreign exchange rates on
investmants from the fluctuations arising from changes in market prices of securities held, Such fluctuations are induded
with the net realized and unrealized gain or loss from investments.,

Incame Taxes

Under the current laws of the Cayman lslands, there are no incomes, withhalding, capital gains or ather taxes payable by
the Fund. In certain jurisdictions other than the Cayman Iskands, foreign taxes may be withheld at source on dividends and
interest recedved by the Fund. Capital gains derived by the Fund in such jursdictions generally will be exempt from fareign
Income or withholding taxes at source, The Fund intends to conduct its affairs such that it willl not be subject to Income tax
in any jurisdiction. As a result, no provision far income taxes has been made in the finandal statements. Unithalder may be
taxed on their proportionate share of the Fund's tax basis income based an their individ val circumstances,

The Fund follows the authoritative guidance on accounting for and disdlosure of uncertainty in tax positions (Financial
Accounting Standards Board [“FASR") - Accounting Standards Codification 740, which requires the Manager to determine
whether a tax position of the Fund is more likely than not to be sustained upon examination by the applicable taxing
autharity, including resolution of any related appeals or litigation processes, based on the technical merits of the position.
Far tax positions meeting the more likely than not threshold, the tax benefit recognized in the financial statements is
reduced by the largest benefit that has a greater than fitty percent likelihood of being realized vpon ultimate settlement
with the relevant taxing authority. The Manager has determined that there is minimal or no effect on the financial
statermients being under this authoritative guidance.

Fanward Foreign Currency Exchange Contracts

The Fund may enter into forward foreign currency exchange contracts 1o hedpe against foreign currency exchange rate
risks on all or a portion of non-USD denominated investrents or for efficient portfolio managemaent purposes. Whan
entering into a forward foreign currency exchange contract, the Fund agrees to receive or deliver a fised quantity of
fareign currency for an agreed-upon price on an agrsed future date. Thise contracts are valued daily, and the Fund's net
equity therein, representing unrealized appreciation/[depreciation) on the contracts as measured by the difference
betwinen thie farward fareign currency exchange rabes at the dates of entry into the contracts and the forward rates at the
reporting date, is included in the Statement of Assets and Liabilities. Realzed and unrealized gains and losses are included
inthe Statement of Operations.

These instruments irvobse market risk, credit risk, or both kinds of risks, in excess of the amount recognized in the
Statement of Assets and Liabilitkes, Risks arise from the possible inability of counterparties to meet the terms of their,
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NEUBE CORPORATE HYBRID SECURITIES FUND
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
For the Year Ended February 29, 2020

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES {continued)
Fornward Fareign Currency Exchenge Contracts [continued)

contracts and from movement in currency and securities values and interest rates, In addition to the class level hedging,
the Fund had realized gains of USD 3,782,488 on 78 forward forelgn currency exchange contracts during the year with an
average notional of USD 9,198,347 and an average term to maturity of 65 days, The Fund abo had realized losses of LISD
2,216,201 on 31 forward foreign currency exchange contracts held at the Class IPY Hedged lewel during the year with an
average national of USD 18,117,405 and an average term to maturity of 83 days.

Cash and Foreign Currency
Cash and foreign currency comprises all currency held with Brown Brothers Harriman & Co., and avernight and other short

term place ments with other financial institutions,

UNITS

The net assets of the Fund are divided into JFY Class Units and USD Class Uinits. The Units are denominated in Japanese Yen
and United States Dollar. JFY Class Units and USD Class Units are available to an eligible investor who §s any persan,
corporation or entity which is not (i) a citizen or resident of the U.5,, a partnership arganized or existing in the W5, or any
corparation, trust or ather entity organized under the laws of or existing in the US; {ii] resident or domiciled in the Cayman
Islands |excluding any object of a charitable trust or power or an exempted or non-resident Cayman Islands company]; (i)
unable ta subscribe for or hold Units without violating applicable laws, or [iv] a custodian, nominee, or trustee for any
person, corporation or entity described in (i) to (i) abowe.

The Manager may determine to issue one or mare classes of Units of the Fund without prior notice to or written consent of
the Unitholder.

All of the net assets attributable to JPY Class Units and USD Class Units are held by one Unitholder.

Clazs JPY Class USD Taotal Fumd

Ba'ane at F\{'I!d’nl.lr'f'JH. M9 wsh B4, 448072 USD 47,211,429 USD111,659.501
‘Subscriptions daring the year 2973194 2,403,235 5376428
Risdemptions dutsoag thi year [23,559.945) {22.910,03R8) (46,499 556 )
Distritutions i1, TeR. B0 {1291, 104) {3.058.917)
et increase im nel assets resulting From operations 6 220 CAE B ITLING 0,995 85T
Kt Assets ot Febroary 19, 2030 Ush 48 MRI613  USD X0 1R9271  USD ITATLER4
Numizes of Units in issue ot Febeaary 28, 2009 741,514 4,714,001 5455515
Lirwits issueed dusing U year 2615 224,384 256,959
Units redeemied during the yea [354,925) {2,186, 392) [2441.31F
NumBer af Units in Baue at Febeoasry 29, 2000 519 204 2751993 3.271.197
Kot Asset Value per Ut at Febeusry 29, 2000 wsh 9209 LSD 10.61

Subscriptions for Units

UISD Class Units were first issued at an initial issue price of USD 10000 per Unit. JPY Class Units were first issued at an initial
izsue price of JPY 10,000 per Unit. On and after initial dosing day, the minimum initial subscription for USD Class Units per
subscriber is 10 Units or more, and in rultiples of 1 Unit thereafter. The minimum initial subseription far JPY Class Units
per subscriber is 1 Unit or more, and in multiples of 1 Units thereafter,

The Manager may waive of change the minimum initial and additional subscription amounts set forth above in its sole
diseretion from time o time,

Sales Charge
In addition to the subscription price, the applicant shall pay a sales charge calculated at wp to 3% (excluding any tax
applicable) of the purchase price, o the Distributor.

Uit Redemptions

The Fund recognizes redemptions in accordance with the authoritative guidance on distinguishing liabilities from aquity.
Redemptions, whether expressed as United States Dollar, Japanese Yen or Units, are recognized as liabikties when each of
the United States Dollar, Japanese Yen and Unit amounts requested in the redemption notice becomes fixed, which
generally may occur either at the time of the receipt of the notice, or on the last day of a fiscal year, depending on the
nature of the request. As a result, redemptions paid after the end of the year, but based upon year end net assets are

111/193



EDINETOOOO

OO000DO00oDOo00DOo0OooOodnE27078)
Ooooooooooooooooooad

NEUEB CORPORATE HYBRID SECURITIES FUND
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS [continued)
For the Year Ended February 29, 2020

UNITS [continued]
Uit Redemptions feon tinued)

reflected as redemptions payable at February 29, 2020, There were USD 2,507,965 of redemptions payable as at February
24, 2020, induded as Payable for Units redeemed in the Statement of Assets and Liabilities,

Repurchase of Units

Each Unitholder may request a repurchase of Units by the Fund unless repurchases have been suspended by the Manager.
Units will be repurchased daily at the Net Asset Value per Unit as at the relevant Repurchase Day (each Valuation Day, or
such ather day or days as the Manager may from time to time determine in respect of the Series Trust). There will be no
repurchase charge on repurchases of Units held over five years.

Compulsory Redemption

In ther @wnt that the Trustes or the Manager shall determing that any Units of any Class of a Series Trust are being held by
or for the benefit of & person who B not an Eligible Investor for such Series Trust ar that such holding would cause the
Trust or the Series Trust to be required to register, be subject to tax or violate the laws of any jurisdiction, or if the Trustee
ar the Manager has reason to doubt the legitimacy of the source of monies used to fund the subscription or purchase of
such Units, or for whatever reason (which may not be disclosed by the Trustee or the Manager to Unitholder) that the
Trustee of the Manager considers appropriate at its absalute discretion having regard to the interests of the Unitholder of
the relevant Class or the Unitholder of the Series Trust as a whobe, then the Manager, after consultation with the Trustee,
may direct the holder thereof to sell (subject to the provisions described below in the section headed "Transfer of Units®)
such Units within 10 days and provide to the Trustee and the Manager evidence of such sale, failing which the Manager
may redeem such Units,

Termination of the Fund
Upon termination, the Manager will realize all the assets of the Fund, and after paying out or retaining adequate provision
for all Eabilities properly payable and retaining provision for the casts of the termination, the Trustese shall distribute the
proceeds of that realization to the Unitholder proportionately to their respective interests in the Fund as of the date of
termination of the Fund.

Distributions to Unitholder

The Manager may, in its sobe discretion, declare distributions from June 2017, Distributions will be declared on each
Distribution Record Date and calculated on each Ex-Distribution Date, Distribution Period is a peried commiencing from the
calendar day following the preceding Distribution Record Date and ending on and including the Distribution Record Date,
The distributions will be paid on the relevant Distribution Payment Date, provided that such amount [if any) declared with
respect to each Class of Units shall only be paid out of the Series Trust's net income, realived and unrealized capital gains
and any distributable funds of thi Series Trust attributable to such Class of Units as determined by the Manager.

The declaration of distributions to Unitholder reduces the Class Lavel Net Asset Value per Unit without any cornesponding
change in the number of Class Level Units per Unitholder, This results in a Unitholder's overall investment in the Fund
biting reduced. In addition, any distributions during a wear which are in axcess of the Fund’s net increase in net assets
resulting from operations results in a portion of the distribution being return of capitall

The amount of distributions, if any, will be determined by the Manager in its sole discretion, and no representation or
Buarantee is made that a distribution will be made in respect of each or any Distribution Period,

Capitaliration

The Het Asset Value per Unit s caboulated for each Dealing Day (each Valuation Day, or such other day or days as the
Manager may from time to time determine in respect of the Series Trust), by dividing the difference in valee betwaeen the
Fund's assets and liabilities (including acerued fees and expenses of the Fund) by the number of Units autstanding.

The Trust Deed stipulates that the number of Units wo be issued in the Fund shall be unlimited as the Manager shall
determing and shall be without par value.

DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

Accounting Standards Codification 815-10-50 requires disclosures about derivative instrumaents and hedging activities. It
reguires that the Fund disclose: a) how and why an entity wses derivative instruments, b) how derivative instruments and
related hedged items are accounted for and ¢) how derivative instruments and related hedged Rems affect an antity’s
financial position, financial perfermance and cash flows,
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NEUBE CORPORATE HYBRID SECURITIES FUND
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
For the Year Ended February 29, 2020

DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS [continued)

The Fund transacts forward derivative instruments primarily far hedging purposes with each instrument’s primary risk
expasure being foreign exchange risk. The forward foreign currency exchange contracts held by the Fund do not qualify as
hedges for accounting purposes under the requirements of ASC §15. The fair value of these dervative instruments is
included in the Statement of Assets and Liabilities with changes in fair value reflected as realized gains/[losses) or net
change in unrealized appreciation/[depreciation] on derivatives within the Statement of Operations (Nobe 2).

The Fund may enter inte an Intemational Swaps and Derivative Assoclation, Inc. Master Agreement [“150A Master
Agresment”) with its counterparties in order to mitigate counterparty risk. The 1SDA Master Agreement B typically
negotiated by the Fund and its counterparties, containing the bi-lateral terms and conditions for all subseguent derivative
transactions. The ISDA Master Agreemant allowrs for the netting of all amounts owed to or due from counterparty into a
single net payment if a credit event or default should occur.

The Fund has elected to not offset fair value receivables and payables for derivative contracts on the face of the Statement
of Assats and Liabilities,

At February 29, 2020 the Fund had entered into the following derivathve assats by counterparty net of amounts available
for offset under a Master Netting Agreement (*MNA®] and net of any collateral received by the Fund:

Dasrivative Asets Darivativis Mon-ash Cash Hat Amount al
Caunte rparty Sabject ta 8 MNA_ Available for Ditet Callatersl Aecived Callateral Receivd Chirivativa Asiets’
Civas WA Usp 1936492 USD {E2.534) UsD =UsD =Usp 1913958
Go'dman Sachs 15,136 (7.B03) = - 7333
Ry’ Bank of Canada 10,149 {10,144} - - -
State Strect Bank Aod Trust Co 14,779 {14,774} - - -
‘Westnac Banking Corporat'an 2,174 £2,174) - - -
Total s 1,978,730 usD {57,439} USD =50 = L5 1,921,291

AL Febrpary 29, 2020 the Fund had entered into the following derivative liabilities by counterparty net of amounts available
for affset under & MMA and net of any collateral pledged by the Fund:

Drivathve Derivatives Monecash Cash Het Amount of

Courte Fparty Liakslitins Awailable for Offsat Collateral Pledged Collatoral Fledged Derivativi

Subjuct 1o a MNA Linbilidies "
Ciiane WA usp 22,534 UsD {E2.534)UsD =UsD =Lsp =
Godman Sachs 7,603 (7.603) = = -
Ry Bank of Cansda 14,555 {10,149} - - 4,406
State Street Bank And Trust Co 32T {14,774} = = 17,547
‘Westnac Banking Corporat'on 54,221 £2,174) - - 52,047
Total [1H] 131,880 USD {57439} USD - 5D —so TAAED

U Mot amount ek the et amount reos ivable fgayabie iom (he ooanterpaty in the eeent of defadn

At February 29, 2020 the Fund had entered into the following derivatives:

Asset Dervatives 'J"EE Derivatives
Deriwatives Staterment Statement
Mot Accounted for as of Aszels and of Assels and
Hadging insiraments Liabilities Location Fair Valua Liabilities Location Fair Valua
Forward Boreign currency  Unanealized appeeciaton Uareal zed degeeciation
exchange contracs o forward fanesgn o looward fonegn
{Cur ey Risk] Giffificy exe b shi L1,1+] LOTEII0  cufnisficy exdhaaie L145] 131,889
cantrads cantracts

The effect of derivative instruments on the Statement of Operations for the year ended February 19, 2020

Change in Unrealized
Location of Realined Appreciation or
Derlwatives Not Accounied  Gadn or |Loss) Gain or {Loss | [Depreciation] on
Tor as Hedging Insirumants _ on Derivatives on Derivatives Drivatives
Kt real o gain o forward Tareign
Fofwifﬂbf?:g.l'lil#fﬁ'f CUrrEncy eRchange conlracls
encheage contracls change = undedli pid aparecation [deprecation)
{Currency Risk) on farmard Toreign currency exchange contracts USD 1,566,287 USD 3312621
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NEUBE CORPORATE HYBRID SECURITIES FUND
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
For the Year Ended February 29, 2020

MAMAGEMENT FEES

The Manager is entitled to receive out of the assets of the Serles Trust a management fee of a total of 0.655% per annum
[0.230% per annum in respect of fee for the Manager and the Investmant Manager and 0.35% per annum in respect of fee
for the Sublrvestment Manager) of the Net Asset Valve acorued on, and calculated as at, each Valuation Day and payable
manthly in arrears. In addition, the Manager is also entitled to be reimbursed out of the assets of the Saries Trust for any
expenses incurred by it in the proper perfarmance of its powers and dutles as permitted under the Master Trust Deed.
During the year ended February 29, 2020, the Manager earned fees of USD 627,790 of which USD 41,501 i still
outstanding as of February 29, 2020

The Manager will pay the fees of the Investment Manager out of its fees. The Investment Manager will pay a fee to the
Sub-Investment Manager out of the fee received by the Investmant Manager.

CUSTOMAN AND SUB-ADMIMISTRATOR'S FEES

The Fund has a custody and accounting agreéemaent with Brown Brothers Harriman & Co, (the “Custodian” and “Sub-
Administrator) for which the Custodian receives a fee calculated and paid monthly based on total assets and transaction
wolurmae.,

The Custodian and Sub-Administrator is entitled to receive out of the assets of the Series Trust an adminkstration fee
[intluding transfer agent fee) calculated based on the Met Asset Value as at each Valuation Day at the following annual
rate:

= 0,08% up to [and including) USD 250 millien;

= 0.07% up to and including) LSD 500 million;

= DUDES awver LISD SO0 millian.

Such administration fee is payable monthly in arrears, and subject to the minimum annual fee of USD E0,000. In addition,
the Custodian and Sub-Administrator i also entitled to receive customary safekeeping fees and transaction charges, All
out-of-pocket expenes of the Custodian and Sub-Administrator shall also be borne by thi Series Trust.

TRUSTEES FEES

Thee Trustes is entitled to receivie out of the assets of the Series Trust a combined fiee at the rate of QUD15% per annurm of
the MNet Asset Valuee accrued on, and calculated as at, each Valuation Day and payable semi-annually in arrears, subject to a
minimum annuwal fee of USD 15,000, During the year ended February 29, 2020, the Trustes earned fees of USD 15,484, of
which USD 12,780 & still outstanding as of February 29, 2020,

AGENT COMPANY'S FEES

The Agent Company is entitled to receive out of the assets of the Series Trust a fee at the rate of 0L05% per annum of the
Niet Assiet Valve sccrued on, and calculated as at, each Valuation Day and payable quarterly in arrears, During the year
ended February 29, 2020, the Agent Company earned fees of LISD 48,292, of which USD &,724 is still outstanding as of
February 29, 2020.

DISTRIBUTOR'S FEES

The Distributar is entithed to receie out of the adets of the Series Trust a fee at the rate of 0.65% per annurm of the Net
Asset Value accrued on, and calculated as at, #ach Valuation Day and payable quarterly in arrears, During the year endad
February 29, 2020, the Distributor earned fees of USD 627,789, of which USD 87,415 is stil outstanding as of
February 29, 2020,

OTHER FEES AND EXPENSES

The costs and expanses in connection with the establishment of the Series Trust and the offering of the Units, together
with the establishment of the Trust, including the costs and expenses of preparing and printing any prospectus of
explanatory brochures requined, are estimated to amount to approximately USD 180,000, Such costs and expenses will be
amortized within the first five (5) financial years of the Series Trust unless the Trustee decides that some other method
shall be applied. The Administrator receives USD 1,500 per annum for FATCA f CRS compliance services.
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NEUBE CORPORATE HYBRID SECURITIES FUND
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
For the Year Ended February 29, 2020

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The Fund’s activities expose i to a variety of financial risks: market risk (including price risk, interest rate risk, and currency
risk), eredit risk and liquidity risk

Market Risk
All investments present a risk of loss of capital The Investment Manager moderates this risk through a careful selection of
securities and other financial instruments.

The Fund's Investment management process is described in Note 1. The primary determinant of the Fund®s ability to meet
its objective of mid to long term capital appreciation while eaming income & dependent of the performance of the
Irvestment in the Underbyging Fund.

The Fund's investrment management process |s described in Note 1. The Fund's overall market positions are monitored on
a daily basis by the Fund's Investment Manager.

The value of the Fund's investments is affected by a number of factors, including but not limited to, changes in the wider
econamy, financial and currency markets, forelgn currency exchange rates, interest rate movements and the credit ratings
of debt issuers,

The Fund may enter into forward foreign currency exchange contracts which to varying degrees regresent a market risk in
axcids of the amount reflected on the Fund™s Statement of Asets and Liabilities, The notional amount of the contract
represents the extent of the Fund's participation in these financial instruments. Market risks associated with such contracts
arise due to the possible moveménts in foreign exchange rates underying thise instruments,

Other market and credit rigks include the possibility that there may be an illiquid market for the contracts, that the change
in the value of the contract may not directly correlate with changes in the value of the underlying currencies or that the
counterparty to a forward contract defaults on itt obligation to perform under the terms of the contract. The Fund's
expasure to loss due to counterparty nan-performance on open forwards forelgn currency exchange contracts is limited to
the unrealized appreciation inherent in such financial instruments which are recognized in the Statement of Assets and
Liabélities.

Interest Rate Risk

The Fund's exposure to changes in interest rates relates primarily to the Fund's investrents in debt securities contracts,
Interest rate fluctuations may also affect the fair value and pricing of derivathve instruments purchased or sold short by the
Fund. The Irvestmant Manager continuously monitors the Fund's exposure to interest rate risk and the Fund’s averall
Interest sensitvity on a regular basis.

Credit Ritk

Credit risk represents the potential loss that the Fund would incur If the counterparties or issuers of debt securities falled
to perforen purisant to the terms of their obligations to the Fund, For exchange-traded contracts, the exchange acts as the
counterparty to specific transactions and, therefore, bears the risk of delivery te and from counterparties of specific
positions. The Fund’s managerment does not consider that credit risk related to apen derivative contracts will have material
adverse effect on the financial condition of the Fund.

‘While bath the LL5. Bankruptcy Code and the Securities Investor Protection Act of 1970 seek to protect customer property
in the event of a failure, insalvency or liquidation of an institution, there is no certainty that, in the event of a failure of an
Institution that has custody of Fund assets, the Fund would not incur lesses due to its assets being unavailable for a period
af tirme, ultimately less than full recovery of its assets, or bath. Becawse all of the Fund's cash is in custady with a single
Institution, such losses could be significant and could materially impair the ability of the Fund to achieve its Investment
objective. The Fund & subjiect to credit risk to the extent that this institution may be unable to fulfill its obligations to repay
amounts owed,
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NEUBE CORPORATE HYBRID SECURITIES FUND
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
For the Year Ended February 29, 2020

FINAMCIAL RISK MAMAGEMENT [eontinuwed]

Liguidity Risk
Irvestors shauld be aware that the value of Units might fall as well as rise. Investmant in the Fund invahoes a degres of risk;
there can be no assurance that the Fund’s investment objective will be achieved.

The Fund is exposed to daily repurchase of its Units but management believes that the Fund has sufficient resounces to
maet the present and foresesable needs of its butiness operations and, i necessary, the Bguidity to fund repurchases and
acheve a market position appropriately reflecting a smaller capital base. This position B monitored continually by
managemaent to ensure that the Fund has the abilty to meet its obligations.

At February 29, 2020, substantially all the imvestments of the Fund were traded in the over-the-counter market.

Cwrrency Risk

The Fund primarily hokds investments denominated in USD, which is the Fund's functional and presentational currency.
Heoweaver, the Fund expects to hedge Japanese Yen, the value of the Fund's net assets attributable to JPY Class, As a result,
the Fund will incur gains/losses an its farward forelgn currency exchange contracts which are used to hedge the JFY Class
net assets to Japanesa Yen, and such gains/losses are fully allocated to JPY Class. All such hedging gains/losses have bean
reflected in the total returns as presented in the Financial Highlights.

The Investrnent Manager monitors the Fund®s currency exposure on a daily basks,

COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGEMNCIES

In the normal course of business, the Trustee on behalf of the Fund may enter into contracts that contain a varlety of
representations and warranties and which provide general indemnifications. The general indemnifications apply not only
to the extent such representations and warranties are untrue but abo may cover third parties such as the Fund's
Adrministrator, Auditar of Investrent Manager for claims related to the services performed for the Fund. The Trustee's
maximum exposure under any such arrangements is unknown, as exposure only arises to the extent future claims that
have not yet accurred are made against the Trustee. However, based on experience, the Trustes expects the risk of loss to
be remate.

SUBSEQUENT EVENTS

Management performed a subsequent events review up to June 26, 3020, which is the date the financial statements were
available to be issued,

Effective March 1, 2020 through June 26, 2020, there were subseriptions of USD 60,696 and there were redemptions of
S0 1,262,614 In respect of Class IPY Units. There were distributions of USD 475,520 in respect of Class JPY Units.

Effective March 1, 2020 through June 26, 2020, there were subscriptions of USD 827,780 and there were redemptions of
USD 639,449 in redpect of Class USD Units. There were distributions of USD 330,807 in respect of Class USD Unies,

COVID-12

On March 11, 2020 the World Health Organization declared the coronavirut disease 2019 (“COVID -197) a pandemic.
Uncertainty remains around (i) the length of the disruption, and (i) the impact of the COVID=19 on global markets.

There are no other significant events to report as they relate tothe Fund,
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2021
121,307,727.64 13,414,208,522
63,046,991.53 6,971,736,323
58,260,736.11 6,442,472,199
1,977,494
411,695
10.68 1,181

10,012
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2020 31
2020 2019
5,628,385 622,387 3,938,928 435,567
2,851,607 315,331 3,190,108 352,762
70,125 7,754 71,250 7,879
8,550,117 945,472 7,200,286 796,208
8,550,117 945,472 7,200,286 796,208
148,200 16,388 146,480 16,198
79,840 8,829 124,271 13,742
1,643,547 181,743 2,462,391 272,291
1,871,587 206,960 2,733,142 302,231
480,000 2020 31
2019 31
480,000 480,000 53,078 480,000 53,078
6,198,530 685,433 3,987,144 440,898
6,678,530 738,512 4,467,144 493,977
8,550,117 945,472 7,200,286 796,208
17 2020
129332
110.58
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2020 31
2020 2019
5,628,385 622,387 3,938,928 435,567
2,851,607 315,331 3,190,108 352,762
70,125 7,754 71,250 7,879
8,550,117 945,472 7,200,286 796,208
1 0.111 1 0.111
1 0.111 1 0.111
8,550,118 945,472 7,200,287 796,208
148,200 16,388 146,480 16,198
79,840 8,829 124,271 13,742
1,643,547 181,743 2,462,391 272,291
1,871,587 206,960 2,733,142 302,231
480,000 2020 31
2019 31
480,000 480,000 53,078 480,000 53,078
6,198,531 685,434 3,987,145 440,898
6,678,531 738,512 4,467,145 493,977
8,550,118 945,472 7,200,287 796,208
17 2020
129332
110.58
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2020 31
2020 2019
19,213,975 2,124,681 22,335,065 2,469,811
19,213,975 2,124,681 22,335,065 2,469,811
(1,183,017) (130,818) (1,276,979) (141,208)

(15,585,538)  (1,723,449) (19,056,557)  (2,107,274)
(15,764) (1,743) (20,971) (2,319)
(228,510) (25,269) (161,343) (17,841)
(17,012,829)  (1,881,279) (20,515,850)  (2,268,643)

2,201,146 243,403 1,819,215 201,169
10,240 1,132 (53,798) (5,949)
10,240 1,132 (53,798) (5,949)

2,211,386 244,535 1,765,417 195,220

2,211,386 244,535 1,765,417 195,220

2,211,386 244,535 1,765,417 195,220

110.58
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2020 31
¢ >y >y ¢ >y > c > o D
480,000 53,078 2,221,727 245,679 2,701,727 298,757
1,765,417 195,220 1,765,417 195,220
31 480,000 53,078 3,987,144 440,898 4,467,144 493,977
2,211,386 244,535 2,211,386 244,535
31 480,000 53,078 6,198,530 685,433 6,678,530 738,512
110.58
2020 31
2020 2019
2,201,146 243,403 1,819,215 201,169
10,240 1,132 (53,798) (5,949)
2,211,386 244,535 1,765,417 195,220
339,626 37,556 1,074,174 118,782
(861,555) (95,271)  (1,182,743) (130,788)
1,689,457 186,820 1,656,848 183,214
1,689,457 186,820 1,656,848 183,214
3,938,928 435,567 2,282,080 252,352
5,628,385 622,387 3,938,928 435,567

110.58
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2020 31
309GT
EU
IFRS IFRS IFRIC
2020 31 IFRS
1ASB IFRIC EU
IFRS 1ASB
IFRIC
IFRS 16 2019
2020 31 2019 31
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JPY GBP SGD
2020 31
2019 31 10
2020 2019
JPY 36,000 54,000
GBP 76,000 95,000
SGD 15,000 56,000
EUR 2,000
2020 31 2020
5,628,385 5,628,385
2,851,607 2,851,607
70,125 70,125
148,200 148,200
79,840 79,840
1,643,547 1,643,547
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2019 31 2019

3,938,928 3,938,928

3,190,108 3,190,108

71,250 71,250

146,480 146,480

124,271 124,271

2,462,391 2,462,391

2020 31 2020 31
2020 31 a
@ ®) ®

) ¢ ¢ C
4,939,036 686,456
2,265,335 991,951

6,464,511 179,247
1,801,198 137,386
115,458 7,001
16,010,138 179,247 1,822,794
2019 31 2019 31
2019 31 a
@ o) ®

) ¢ ¢ ¢
4,735,296 339,775
9,478,941 1,253,147
2,634,320 307,671
2,071,148 549,065
136,852 12,733
19,056,557 2,462,391

(a
(b
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MNIEKO® AM GLOBAL CAYALAN LTD
CONSOLIDATEDRD STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
AS AT M MARCH a0
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e

15935008
1 1940,108
71.2%

TAML2EE

T200,256

146480
124,271
246230

Pste 200
Asseis
Cmrrend Assets
Cash aid cash equivalmts -1 LG b
Accoim s Fecervabile 2 BRY GOT
Accrued moome end propaid expense T0125
Tolal Currenl Asaels 8,550,117
Total Mon- Currenid Assels
Tolal Assels ] 8.550,117
Liabilities aml Eqisity
Current Liabilities
Accruod expenscs amd deferred income 5 148 2040
Accoumls payable THEAD
Amounis peyable 10 group underiakngs L 1543547
Tatal Current Liabilities 15715587

2733142

Equlty

Caplital and Reserves Atiribuiable to Equity
Halders of the Company

Share caplital (31 par value, 450,000 shares
sl horered, 480600 shares =med and AR WA
odtstan<mg st 31 March 2020 and 1019

A8 0

1587144

4467144

Retained earmings 6,198,530
Total Edquity 6.675 430
Total Liablkites and Equity 5 8580117

7200256

The anaeved noles from 1 bo % Fomm an integral pan of these fancial statements.

The financial stabements on pages & Lo |7 ware approved by tbe Board of Directors on & Aogust 2000 ancd asthocesed for s and

sigreed on s hehalf by

Company regisered nuember: 179332
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MNIKED AM CLOBAL CAYAMAN LTD
COMPANY STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
AS AT 31 MARCH 2020

Mok 2030 w9
Asaris
Currenl Assels
Cash and cash equivalents ] 5628 383 © ER LR
Accounts recenable 2R 607 3,150 108
Axenaed inooene and propasd exponss T0125 71,250
Total Curienl Asiéls 555,117 TR0, 86
Mom - Currenl Assels
Investmen i subsidiary 3 | 1
Taotal Mon-Curvent Assels | 1
Total Assets 3 8550118 § T.RMLIET
Liabilities aml Eqity
Cirrent Lialilities
Accraed expenses and deferred mcone L1 4820 5 148 480
Accourts payable Tgan 12437
Amoints payable to group andenakings & 1.643 547 2462391
Total Current Liabdlijes 1,571,587 2,733,142
Equisy
Capital and Feserves Abribatatde o Equlty
Halders of the Company
Share capilal {31 par value, 420,000 shares mthorized,
A0, shares tssped and oulstsnding # 31 Mardh AR D ABT M)
2000 and 2009)
Retained eamings 6,198,531 3087045
Taolal Exuity 6678 53] 4467, 145
Total Liabikities and Equity 3 580,118 3§ T 200,287

The amnemied notex from 1 1o 8 form an mlegral pant of thess fmndcsl dalonmis.

The finuncisl statements on peges & Lo |7 were approved by ibe Board of Directors on & Aogust 20030 and ssthorised for isase and
signeed on its bohalf by

B tia]
W=t A

Company registered member: 129352
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MIERG AN GLOBAL CAYMAN LTI

ETATEMENT OF COMSOLIDATED COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

FOR THE YEAR EXNDED 31 MARCH 1020

Olpratiingg Hevenises
Investment management and adviscry fees fram third partics

Total operating revenues

Operating Expenses
Sub-advisary fees with thind parties
Sub-advisory fees with group undertakings
Adwchit fees
(e operating and adminisirative expoises
Total oporaling exponscs

Operating Profit

Oilser [neome / (Expenses)
Cither ncome{expense), Net foreign echange gain (loss)
Total other expenses

Profit Before Incoane Tax
Income tax expense

Profil atftributabde o equlty holders of the parent

Cether Comprehensive lncome for the year
Total Compreliensive Incame for e vear

All the Group's operalins are chssifiod & continusng.

The anmeved mobes from 1 1o 8 Form an anlegral pan of these fmncial statememts.

Noke
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2020 2014
19213972 11335063
19213975 335065
{1 AB3.00Th (1,276,975

(15585538 {1 056.257)
(15, 764) 20571
CXEE 51000 (161 388}
(17,00 2,55 (20,51 5.850)
2.201,144 1815212
10,240 (3,758}
10,240 (53,790
2211346 1,765,417
2211384 1765417
22011384 17685417
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MIEED AM GLOBAL CAVAAN LTD
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 1020

Nte {”,u':’l; ':;".‘r'r'.'lf:‘ Total
Balunce at | April 2014 T Wiaoh 8 2231ET s rouicrt
Net profit . 1765417 [I6sALT
Dividend pibd 5 i :
Balunce at 31 March 2619 5 W00 8 39sTidd s ademau
Nt prefit : 2211386 2211386
Dividend paid ;
Balanre a1 31 March 2020 5 w000 5 Ges 5 GeTESI0

Thie anmeved moles from 1 ta % form an integral pant of these finwncial statements
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MNIEK® AM CLOBAL CAYAMAN LTD
CONSOLIPATEDR CASH FLOW STATEMENT
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 1020
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Ml 200 p L
Cash Fhows fram Gperating Activities
Operating Prafit 4 2,300,184 1819215
Addfusdmenis for
Nt foreign exchmnge loss 10,240 {53,758)
mlmﬂ cash flows before movements in working 2371386 L6417
Chamges In operaiing ssaets and labilites
Diecrease | (imcresse) in recenvables IAHED6 1,074,174
(Docrcase} | Increase in payables (B61_.555) (1.182,743)
et Cash Ceneraled from Opsrating Activitlies 1,689 457 1,656,548
Cash Flows from Financing Activities
Dividends pakd -
et Cash from Flmamcing Activitles -
Mol Increase [m Cash and Cash Equivalends 1,689 457 1,655, 548
Cash mnd cush equivalo iz, beginming of the yoar 1058 98 2R 080
Cash and Cash Equivalents. End of the Year -1 625 388 1,508 928

The anmexwed modes from 1 ta & form an integral part of these fencie] shabements.
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MIKKG AM GLOBAL CAYMAN LTD
MOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR EXDED M MARCH 1020

Naote 1= Genernl Infornoilion

Nikka AM Global Covman Lid *the Company”™) snd fis subsidiary g ether “the Oroup™) are incomorsied @ d domialed o the
Cayman Islamds. The wddress of the registered office is PO Box 300GT, Ugland House, South Churdh Street, Grand Cayman,
Cayman slands. The peincipal activities of the Group snd Company durimg e Year were the provision of mvestiment advice and
invesimant management services to thind paribes and other group membeas. These pon-dawory finsncial aaements have been
proparcd o asd the preparation of consolidated financial $alommis for the intomeedinle parent company_

Note ! — Summary of Significant Accounting Principles
The principal accounting palicies adopled are s out below,

Hasls of preparation

Thie Group and Company's financial statemenis have been prepared i accondamos with Inlem atiensl Fisancil Reponing Standards
as adopted by the European Union (IFRS5s as sdopted by the FU) and [FRIC interpretations applicsble fo companies reporting
mniber IFRS. As ml 31 March 20200 the Compuey bad adopted all IFR S mnd mterpretations that had been i sased by the Intomational
Accounting Stamdands Bosnd ("LASET) and Imtemations] Financial Reporting Inapretations Committes (“IFR1C), and endorsed
by the EL. The accounting policies et out below bave been appdicd consistenily 1o all periods presented m these financial
statenmvents. IFRSs comprise accounting sandards saed by the 1ARE snd its predocessor body as well as interpretations fssued by
the IFRIC and its predecessor bady.

1 preparing s set of fifncal Qalemnenls, he Coipany prepared plassble downsde soendfros sich as redudlon i reveniies
due 1o ghobal market declmes reaalting from the pasdemic. Managerment is satisfied thit the resuis of these scenanios supports the
going conoem basis of preparation.

Basls of consolidation

Subsacharmes are entitics conlrodled by the Group. Control exists when the Group bis the power 1o govern the financial snd operating
policies of an enlity =0 as 10 obtain beneffis from its activilies, In assessing contral, the Group takes into considertion potantial
valing rights that sre corantly exercisable. The aoquisition dale is the dale on which control is irmsferred 1o the soguirer, The
finencial stalemsents of subsidiarics are inchided m the conselidaed fnameial stabensenmts from the date thal control commienoes
wnlil the dale that control cesses. Losses applicable to the non-conirolling inlerests in 3 subsidiary are sllocmted to the nom-
comtrolling milereds evan if doing o caises the non-controlling intereds to bave a deficil balasee.

ew seoounding standards adopied
IFRS 16 Liease Accounting 14 dfective from | Jauasy 2019, The congany has go bases and tharefoee the atandarnd has no elfoc
o e company”s financial stalements.

Measurenent convention
The financial gstements bave been prepared under the hidonical oo convention

Esdlenates aied asamplions

The preparution of financial dalements requires managemenl to make edimabes and asasmplions that affect the wnoants reported
fior asscts and Habitkes as a1 the balance sheet date snd e ssnounts reponted for revenues snd expenses during the vear. The mature
of gst imation mesns that actual oubcomes could differ from those estimptes. The asumptions snd estimates, which are continuoushy
reviewed, are based on past experience arsd other factors, inchading expeciations regarding likely developments in the futare. Al
31 Bdarch 2020 aed 2019 there wers no mstenal camales o sssumplions.

Accounts receivable

Accoiints peceivable melude amounts due for mamagemenl, advisory amd performance Tees and ansounts due from cugomens and
athers. All accounts receivable sre repavable on demand or within one yesr. They are recorded in the balance sheet at codl, redisced
by appropoiate aflowmoes for ctimated imecoverabile smounds, and they are mieresd bearng.

Accounts payable

Avccounts paysble mchide smounts due for subsmbdisory services and parformance fees and nmonts due 1o vendors @nd oltsers.
Al cconinds payable are classafied according 1o the subsance of the contradctual amangonm! eeioied mto. They are pajable on
demmni or within one year and are reconded on the balance dheet at cosl, Amounts owed to group undertakings are unsecured,
inleredt free and hanve mo Fioed Lermas of repayment

Cashy aned cash equivalents

Cash and cash cqaivmlents comprse aish in banks and in hand end shord dem deposits with an ongmal matenty of three months
o less and forelgn asrencics bedd by the Group and Conspany, For the puspeses of the cash flow statement, cash el cash
equivabants conssst of cash and cash equivalents 25 defined sbove, net of cutstmeding bk overdrafts.

Operaling revenses

Operaling revenues inclide commissons and invedment mamagement], invedmenl adhasory and perf o fees. Oy
revenues ane mesaned ol the Fair value of e consideratson recerved o meceivable Tor sarvices wmlm Ih:nnrmd I:{l.lhkﬂf
busmess, et of discounts, il fees, VAT mnd other sales refated taxes,

IFES 15, Revenise from Comtracts with Customers replaced [AS 18 Revense and introdaced & five e approads 16 fevenue
recognition; 1) identifying the contract with the cudiomer; inp Ldﬂ:l'l'}tng the ]'u'ﬁmm obligaisons; iii} identify the comtract price
I associated revenoe, ivh allocate the consadoralion 1o the relevant porfs ¢ obligations, and %) recognising the revenue as the

performance obligations are salisfied. )
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MIKKG AM GLOBAL CAYMAN LTD
MOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR EXDED M MARCH 1020

Thie Company has applied [FRS 15 retrospectively, bad has determined that dhere is no adpustmeni 1o the retamed camings a5 o |
Agril 2008, Compantive information has not bean sffected snd therefore no restatement is required.. The Company hasunderiaken
a review of its contmcts with customeers and concluded thal there tsno impadt on the wary in which it recognises its revenucs asno
clemnend of e revenue relles on estimates or B subgeet 10 reversal of significant restaicment.

Commisgons and mvestment managonant and advisory fees and sssocialed charges are rocogrised when the sorvioes concomed
are rendered. Irvesiment management and advisory fets are caleulated 45 aparcentage of asses under managemeanl. Commissons
are recognisod on @ rade dale basis, caboulated on o percentage of the sike. Porfformumoc focs are recognised i the paried in which
Ehey beconte dad and collecsble.

Operatlng expenses
Operaling expanses are sccounted for when they become payable

Dividends
Edquity dividends to the sharcholbder of the Group are recognised as u liability & the period during which they are declared and
appraved,

Foreign carremcies
The finctional and presontalional currency of the Growp and Comgasy i US dollars (5).

Trans&ctions in cusrencies othear than US doltars are reconded o1 the rates of exchange prevailing on the dates of the imnssations
Al cech balance sheet dafe, mmdary assds md lisbililies that are demomineted in forcign onmoncics sre retrmmsbabed af the mies
provailing on ke balmee sheel date. Mon-monetary assets and lisbilities carried a8 fuir value thal sre denominated m Foroign
currencics arc transiabed sl the rales prevailing at the dabe when Fair valae was delermined. Cains and losses ansing on reiranslation
are included in met profi or Joss for the perdod, eccept for exchange differences arising on non-monetary ssscts and liabilities where
the chamges in fuir vahae are recogoised dircctly inogaily.

Finamncisl indrumenls

IFRS 9. Financial Instruments replaced the classification and measurement contaimed in 1AS 3% Financial Instrumests: Recommition
anwd Measurement (1A% 39), In accordance with IFRS 9, the Company’s financial assets have been reclassified af amodised cost,
Taie value through cther comprehensive ineome of Far value tirough prolit or ks, The Company bas applicd IFRS # retrespectively,
with the Etention of including sy required adjustment 1o retained camings 25 3 | Apnl 2005 Comparstive mformation bas nol
been resated,

Thie vast majority of the Comgasy’s financial mstruments are cash and receivables which are messured af mmonised cost.

Followiag the Company's adoplion of IFRS 900 1 Apeil 200% ihe Company his evaluaied potential crodi Joses on 3l fnanaal
nsets Lhat are meenamred 8 mmortized cost. Faclors considered im determinmg whether o defanl is likely or posdble inclode whether
a pryment s overdue (and the lmgth of that ponod), sny known deterioration in the oredst quality’ of o clientGounterpaty or other
ismmes that coull sdversely affect 8 client’s'counterparty’s credit quality,

For financial assets where there i no known isaves affedting crodit quality, expooted onedil lesses are acalculated based on the bosass
that are expected tobe inourmed over o rollmg twelve-moeith peri od. Given the natuse of the Company's fimncial assets {i.e. mostly
cash l bank), there is & very bow credit ridc. The Company is also considering the use of money markel funds o increase
diversificatsom and further reduce credit risk

For any financial asscts where the contractual paymsent is moce than 30 days past doe. the defaull posilion is 1o axaeme an increise
in eredil sk However, defaalt levels in the padt have besn immatenial snd there were po foe receivaliles past die asat 31 Mafch
H2.

Invesimends in subsidiaries
Invedments im subsddiaries are stabed i tee parenl company®s bakande sheet ul cosd less any provigions for impammmil

Note 3 - Investment in Subsidiary
COMPANY

Ar 31 March 2000 and 31 March 201% ithe Company had an Evesiment of 31, In the opinion of the directors, the Companys
investment is not impaired, Details of the investment are as follows.

Sumbser, class and

Country of perceniaze of dhares
Invesler Incorpor ation Frincipal sctivity held b the Company
Cayinan 1 O share
PR AR oy | LI Islunds Ky e o 51, 100%

Note 4 — Taxation

Al 31 March 2020 and 3019, the tax rate applicalde to the Gromip and the Company's profils i (# becanse thore i no s levied
an Cayman kshinds companies.
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Mote 5 - Financial Risk Factors

The Group and Company’s financial instramnsents comprise cash mvd cash equivalents and receivable and payable balances thal
artse from i1s daily operalions. All cash and cash equivalnts are carmiod al ool which i considened o approvinmte to Fair vahse
ki 1o the shor term maturity of these financial mamments, The main risks associated with the Group snd Company’s financial
assete and Babilities s st oul below;

Credie risk

Credit nisk = defmed as the nsk of ol b due o o counterparty’s faihire o honour its obligation principally i relation 1o
trasissctions where the Growp of Company provides goods o services on defierred tenms and whare it invesds or doposils aumplus
cash, The Group or Company do nol belicve thal they are materially exposed 1o credit rid ns its smbes debéors are managed group
fimds amd therefore managomant end performance fecs receivable are govemod by its agreoments with these fimds. To mitigate
amy resadual risk of these aseta failing to be deliverad. the Group and Company ensure that the terms of these spreements in
relation (o payments of | & % mnd per ¢ Fres are adbvered o by moniloring its 3ged debbor analysis against the sgreed
servioe bevel agreamants.

The Group and Company sdopis the policy of dealmg with cadtomens of sppropmate credit history. For olber fimancial assets, the
Croanp v Congpany adapts the policy of dealimg with finaneial inituisons snd olber counterpantics with high credit rtings. There
are no finangial assets pasl dus amd £ or enpaired 258 31 March 2020 a0 2009, Tradk recervables are due o least quarerty, sad are
mormally seitled within 30 days of their due date. There ane no overdue trade reconvables ot the balmot shod date.

Further, with regard o band: doposits, the Group mnd Compamy only depessits money with approved cmmterpartses on agroed tams

Mar ki risk

Mwrkcet risk {or systemic risk) is defined as that risk which & common to an enlire class of assels or linbslitics whereby their walse
an Miduale simply boomse of ooonomic changes of otho ovents thal smpad large portions of the mwkd. The Group and
Company do pol believe that they are exposed o material market nisk as the assets the Group and Company mamage are held by
ared for the benefit of fumd hodders through sepamle lezal entitics.

Currency risk

Cusrency risk iz definod as the risk that the vahae of Group or Company assets md labilities denomisnated in currencies other than
the functional aerency of the Group or Company will change in value dae 1o movements in forcign exchange rates. The Group
and Company are exposed lo cumency risk misng from vanious currency exposures, primarily with resped to the Japaness Yen
(IPY). Sterling Pound (SBP) and Singapore Dollar {3000, The Oreup and Company™s fee indome is received mainty 1n USD and
JEY, A 31 March 2020 and 2009, had these comenci¢s strengthened'weakened by 10% againg the USD with all other vanshles
mchuding tax rabe being held constant, the Group and Company's prafil befiore tax for the fnancisl yoar would have boen
Bigheeribower ms @ el of currency transkalion losscsieains on e ranainmng cusrency denomisated cash balances, trade receivables
e pqyiilﬁ; bwy the below amounts.

Currency 2020 2009
(Rounded 1o nearest § thousandy
Y 5 3,000 5 54,000
GEP T, (e 05 DM
20D 15,000 h1ALLT
EUR 2,000 .

Liquidtity risk and Mnancial solvency risk

Liquadity risk is defined as the risk thet the Group or Compmy will not be sble to meeel its financial obligations as they fll due
The Group and Company’s appresch (o managing this risk B b enaare thal il has saffcient Hguidity to nseet i3 Habilnies when
e, both umder nonmisl amd sressed conditions

Capital managemeni
The Group and Comipsey capital position i% moailored on an oogomg bass 1o owsre that it is adequate. Thioe are no oxomally

impidid capital requiremionts.

Falr Yalue of Financlal Indrumenis
The fair values of fimncial assets and fiancial Babilitics that are tded in active markets are based on qeoled marke prices o
deaber price quodations. For all other financial insfruments, the Group ddamine fir valies usng other valistion tedmigaes.

For financial instnaments that trade mifrequently and have little price transparency. fair value is less obgective, and requires varying
degrees of judgement depending oo liquidity. conceniratim, uncetainty of market factors, pricing assumglions end ofher nisks
affecting the specific instrument.

The tehle below apalyees finmncil msnaments. into a fair value hiemrchy based on the vabaation techmique used 1o debermine fair
value

& Level 1 quooled prices funadpsted i netive markels for sdendicnl wssets or liabilities

® Level 20 inguits other than quoted prices included withim Level 1 ths are observable for the sssel o lisbility, either direcly
(i.e.. a5 prices) or indirecly {i.e., derived from prices)

®  Level 3t dmpuls for the mesel of liability that are nol based on observable mket data (unobservable mgauls),
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Year ended 3 March 2428 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Tatal 2620
Aimeli 5 ] 5 5

Cash med cash exquivalent LH18385 - - 54628385
Accamis reccivable . 1851607 = 2851807
Acerued meome and propaid expense . 0125 . To1xs
Liabilithes

Acerued expense and defomed income = 148 10 = 148 )
Acdoumls payable . TR0 . TREM
Accounls payable 1o group

- e . 16435407 L 1683, 547
Yoear ended 3 March 2009 Leved | Lawe] 3 Larvel 3 Tatal 3015
Asets H H 5 H

Cash mxd cash equivalms 1938528 - - 1938928
Acooumnls receivable - 190,108 - 3090108
Aveniad meome and propaid expense i 71250 H 71,250
Llubsilfibes

Acerued expense and deferred income . 146480 . 146,480
Accoumlis payable - 124371 - 124271
Accounls payable to group

BriAsaaly - 1AEL39] - 1462391

Al finamcial assds and lmbslitics we camod al histoncl cost. The fasr valuces of all finmncial msds and labglilios are smlar o

Eheir carryimg vahics ewing to thebr short kerm nature.
Note 6 - Helated Party Transactions
Transections between the Group and Company snd relsted parties are dischsed below:

Debilor as Credilor as af
Oprrating Operaiing at 31 March 31 March
Yoenr emded 31 March 2020 Hevenues Expemses (n) 20 (b} 202 by
Nikko Assel Mmnagomml Amencas, Inc. 5 = 5 4 939 085 5 = 5 686,458
Hikko Assct Management Europe Lid. - 1,165335 - #1551
NWikko Assel Mmnagemant Co, Lid. - 6464 511 179,247 .
Nikko Asset Mamagement Asia Lid, - 1500, 198 - 157384
Hikko Aszcl Mmagemant Hong Kong - 115458 - 7000
Talsl 3 5 1601038 5 179,247 5181
Drelstor as Credlilor as an
Operating Opirating al 31 March A1 March
Year ended 31 March 2019 Hevenies Expeises (a) 2019 (b} 2019}
Hikko Assel Mmnagemanl Amenicas, [nc. i = 3 A e 5 = -1 A5DTTS
Wikl Asset Management Europe Lid, - SATRM - 1253, 147
Nikko Asct Mmnagemant Co, Led. - A3 30 = 07 671
Mikko Asset Management Asia Lid - TOTLE4R - Se9.063
Nikko Asscl Managemant Hong Keng . 136,852 . 12.733
Talzl 3 3 IOEG5FT 3 5 AR
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{a) Operaling experses paid (o relsted parties we payable under mvestment management agreements and are for fland
management servaces,

(b} The amounts cutdmding are unsecured and will be setiled in cash, No gusrmtees have been given or received. No provisions
v boan made for doubtful delbs in respect of the amounts owed by related parties.

Nikko Assct Mmnzgomonl Amaricas, Ing., Mikke Asscl Management Ewrope Lid., Nikko Asecl Managemont Asia Led md RNikkoe
Asud Management Hong Bong arc [ellew subssdiarics. Mikko Assat Managanant Co, Lid ex an imdicect sharchalder of the
aforementioned subsdiaries,

Note T - Ultinede Holding Company

Thie Greap is & wholly owned sabsidiary of Nikko AM Global Holdings Lid, is smmediste parent mndeniaking, a company which
is registered im England end Wales.

In the opinion of the direcbors the altimate parent company. and controllimg pany. ts Sumdteme Mian Trest Holdings, Inc.. a
company incorporsted in Jepen, Financial statensents for Sumitoma Mitsai Trust Holdings, Inc, are svailable 1o the public from

the Investor Relatsons Office, Financial Plasming Depariment, Samitomo Mitsal Trust Huldq:. Ime. L=dl, M:.l‘uurul.th Chiyoda-
ko, Tokoyo 100-8233, Japan. Copies of the anmeal repoet can be viewed or retrieved firom

Note § — Subsequent Events

Subseduant 16 the sdstoment of finmaal postion dat e, there were no cvents which had m impsa on the consolidated and mdividual
Tknancisl stabenvents of the Company.
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2020 30
2020 30 2020 31
6,905,864 763,650 5,628,385 622,387
2,811,372 310,882 2,851,607 315,331
23,377 2,585 70,125 7,754
9,740,613 1,077,117 8,550,117 945,472
9,740,613 1,077,117 8,550,117 945,472
120,087 13,279 148,200 16,388
82,785 9,154 79,840 8,829
1,913,594 211,605 1,643,547 181,743
2,116,466 234,039 1,871,587 206,960
480,000 2020 30

2020 31
480,000 480,000 53,078 480,000 53,078
7,144,148 790,000 6,198,530 685,433
7,624,148 843,078 6,678,530 738,512
9,740,614 1,077,117 8,550,117 945,472

110.58
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2020 30
2020 30 2020 31
6,905,864 763,650 5,628,385 622,387
2,811,372 310,882 2,851,607 315,331
23,377 2,585 70,125 7,754
9,740,613 1,077,117 8,550,117 945,472
1 0.111 1 0.111
1 0.111 1 0.111
9,740,614 1,077,117 8,550,118 945,472
120,087 13,279 148,200 16,388
82,785 9,154 79,840 8,829
1,913,594 211,605 1,643,547 181,743
2,116,466 234,039 1,871,587 206,960
480,000 2020 30
2020 31
480,000 480,000 53,078 480,000 53,078
7,144,148 790,000 6,198,531 685,434
7,624,148 843,078 6,678,531 738,512
9,740,614 1,077,117 8,550,118 945,472
110.58
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2020 30
2020 30 2020 31
8,325,309 920,613 19,213,975 2,124,681
8,325,309 920,613 19,213,975 2,124,681
(488,340) (54,001) (1,183,017) (130, 818)
(6,365,716) (703,921) (15,585,538)  (1,723,449)
(9,058) (1,002) (15,764) (1,743)
(116,613) (12,895) (228,510) (25,269)
(6,979,727) (771,818) (17,012,829)  (1,881,279)
1,345,582 148,794 2,201,146 243,403
24,635 2,724 10,240 1,132
24,635 2,724 10,240 1,132
1,370,217 151,519 2,211,386 244,535
1,370,217 151,519 2,211,386 244,535
1,370,217 151,519 2,211,386 244,535

110.58

145/193




EDINETOOOO

OO000DO00oDOo00DOo0OooOodnE27078)

O000oOoOddooooooooOoOaOon
2020 30

( ) C ) ( ) « ) ( ) « )
2019 31 480,000 53,078 3,987,145 440,898 4,467,145 493,977
2,211,386 244,535 2,211,386 244,535
2020 31 480,000 53,078 6,198,531 685,434 6,678,531 738,512
(424,600)  (46,952)  (424,600)  (46,952)
1,370,217 151,519 1,370,217 151,519
2020 30 480,000 53,078 7,144,148 790,000 7,624,148 843,078

110.58
2020 30
2020 30 2020 31

1,345,583 148,795 2,201,147 243,403

24,635 2,724 10,240 1,132

86,982 9,618 339,626 37,556

244,878 27,079 (861,555) (95,271)

1,702,078 188,216 1,689,458 186,820

(424,600) (46,952)
(424,600) (46,952)

1,277,478 141,264 1,689,458 186,820

5,628,386 622,387 3,938,928 435,567

6,905,864 763,650 5,628,386 622,387

110.58
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2020 30
309GT
EU
IFRS IFRS IFRIC
2020 31 IFRS
1ASB IFRIC EU
IFRS 1ASB
IFRIC
1ASB IFRS
2020 30 2020 31
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IFRS 15
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2018
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IFRS 9 1AS 39 1AS 39
IFRS 9 ) ) )
2018 IFRS 9
2018 IFRS 9
12
30
2020 30
2020 30 2020 31
100
2020 30 2020 31
2020 30 2020 31
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30
JPY GBP SGD
2020 30
2020 31 10
2020 30 2020 31
JPY 38,000 36,000
GBP 76,000 76,000
SGD 45,000 15,000
EUR 4,000 2,000

150/193



EDINETOOOO
OO000DO00oDOo00DOo0OooOodnE27078)
Ooooooooooooooooooad

2020 30 2020 30
2020 30 a
® ® ®
C O C O C O C O

702,454 140,109

4,112,350 1,099,130

643,733 231,193

796,864 434,732

110,316 8,430

6,365,717 1,913,594

2020 31 2020 31
2020 31 a
® ® ®
C O C O C O C O

2,660,526 261,856

8,822,358 991,951

2,185,998 245,353

1,801,198 137,386

115,458 7,001

15,585,538 1,643,547

(a
®
100-8233
IR

http://www_smth_jp/en/
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@
FirstCaribbean International Bank and Trust Company (Cayman) Limited
2021 36,936,427 40 8,443
1965
@
Brown Brothers Harriman & Co.
2020 12 1,040,000,000 1,150 320
(©))
UFJ
2021 405
(O]
2021 173 63
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®
LLC
Neuberger Berman Investment Advisers LLC)
2020 12 658,000,000 727 6,164
@
90
@
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®

CIMA

()

*
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)
®
UFJ
JSDA
JSDA
)
©)
SEC
)
Q)
LLC
LLC
2002 11 2003 SEC
2016 LLC
LLC NB LLC NB
LLC LLC
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LLC
LLC
AA LLC
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100
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1.1 1993

1.2
1960

1.3
(a
1993
2020

(b
2020

1.4

1.5 2019 12 10,857
2,886
2020
2020
1.6
2.1

CIMA

CIMA
2.2

2.3

O

(a
(b
(c
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2.4 CIMA CIMA

CIMA
2.5 2020
15

CIMA
2.6

3.1

CIMA CIMA CIMA

CIMA

CIMA

3.2

CIMA

CIMA

3.3

(a 80,000 CIMA 100,000

(b

CIMA
3.4

2020 CIMA
CIMA

15

80,000 100,000
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4.1
CIMA
CIMA
4.2 CIMA
(a
(b
(c
«
(e
4.3
21
4.4 2006 12 27
CIMA
5.1
5.2
5.3
CIMA
5.4 CIMA
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CIMA
21
CIMA
CIMA
CIMA
CIMA CIMA
CIMA
CIMA
48
3.2
10



5.5

5.6

5.7

5.8

CIMA

(a
(b

(c
(d
(e

@i

(A
B 12

(c
CIMA

CIMA

6.1

(a

O

(c

«

CIMA

(A

17

36,585
8,536
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CIMA

CIMA

c

CIMA

24,390 30,488
8,536
42,682



6.2

6.3

(f
@

(h
@

(k

(m

(n

(vii

30

(a

®

(c

«

(f

(9

(h
@i

1925

150

20

(a

O

CIMA
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6.4

(c

(

(e

(f

(9

(h

@i

(k

(a

O

(c

@i

(vi

2016

50
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«

(e 50

CIMA
7.1 CIMA CIMA CIMA

7.2
7.1

500
7.3
CIMA CIMA CIMA
CIMA

7.4 7.3 10

7.5 7.3
CIMA
10
7.6
CIMA CIMA

7.7 CIMA 7.9

(a
(b

(c
«

(e
(f

7.8 7.7 CIMA CIMA

(a CIVA
® CIMA
(c
(d CIVA CIMA
7.9 7.7 CIMA
@a b)
a)

(b

(c
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@
(e
.10 CIMA 7.9 CIMA

.11 CIMA CIMA

A2 7.9(d) 7.9(e)

CIMA CIMA
.13 7.9(e)

7.14  7.13
7.15  7.9(d) 7.9(e)

(a CINA CINA CINA
(b CINMA
CINA
c () CINMA CINA

16 7.9(d) 7.9(e) 7.15 CINA
CIMA

17 7.15 CIMA
(a CIVA
(b 94(4)
(c
«
(e 7.9(d) 7.9(e)
.18 CIMA 7.17
7.9
.19 CIMA  7.9(a)

.20 7.17(c)

.21 CIMA CIMA

b)
a)

CIMA
.1 CIMA CIMA CIMA

500

CIMA CIMA CIMA
CIMA
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8.5 8.3

CIMA
10
8.6 CIMA CIMA

(a
(b
8.7 CIMA

8.8 CIMA 8.10
(a
(b

(c

(

(e

(f
@

(h

8.9 8.8 CIMA CIMA

(a
€ CIMA

(i CIMA
(iii
(iv CIMA
(Y CIMA
(vi CIMA
(vii
(viii  CIMA CIMA
(b CIMA
(c CIMA
(d CINA
8.10 8.8 CIMA
(a
(b
(c
(¢
(e
8.11 CIMA 8.10 CIMA CIMA

8.12  8.10(d) 8.10(e)
CINA CINA
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8.13  8.10(e)

8.14 8.13

8.15  8.10(d) 8.10(e)

(a CINA CINA CINA
(b CIMA CINA

c O CIMA CIMA
8.16  8.10(d) 8.10(e)

(a 8.15

(b CINA

CIMA

8.17 8.15 CIMA

(a CINA

(b 94(4)

(c CIMA 8.10(d) 8.10(e)
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Report of Independent Auditors

To FirstCaribbean International Bank and Trust Company (Cayman) Limited solely in its capacity as the Trustee of
NEUB Corporate Hybrid Securities Fund

We have audited the accompanying financial statements of NEUB Corporate Hybrid Securities Fund (the “ Fund” ),
which comprise the statement of assets and liabilities, including the portfolio of investments, as of February
28, 2021, and the related statements of operations, of changes in net assets, and of cash flows and the financial
highlights for the year then ended. These financial statements and financial highlights are hereafter

collectively referred to as "financial statements".

Management®"s Responsibility for the Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in accordance
with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America; this includes the design,
implementation, and maintenance of internal control relevant to the preparation and fair presentation of

financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

Auditors® Responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the financial statements based on our audit. We conducted our
audit in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America. Those standards
require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements

are free from material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the
financial statements. The procedures selected depend on our judgment, including the assessment of the risks of
material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk
assessments, we consider internal control relevant to the Fund’ s preparation and fair presentation of the
financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for
the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Fund’ s internal control. Accordingly, we
express no such opinion. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and
the reasonableness of significant accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall
presentation of the financial statements. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.

Opinion

In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the
financial position of NEUB Corporate Hybrid Securities Fund as of February 28, 2021, and the results of its
operations, changes in its net assets, and its cash flows and the financial highlights for the year then ended,
in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America.

PricewaterhouseCoopers

July 6, 2021
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR*S REPORT TO THE DIRECTORS OF NIKKO AM GLOBAL CAYMAN LTD
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2020

Opinion

We have audited the non-statutory accounts of Nikko AM Global Cayman Ltd (* the company” ) for the year ended 31
March 2020 which comprise the Statement of Financial Position as at 31 March 2020, the Statement of Comprehensive
Income, the Statement of Changes in Equity, and the Cash Flow Statement for the year then ended, and related
notes including the accounting policies in note 2. The non-statutory accounts have been prepared for the reasons
set out in note 1.

In our opinion the non-statutory accounts:

give a true and fair view of the state of the Company’ s affairs as at 31 March 2020 and of its profit for
the year then ended; and

have been properly prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards as adopted by the
European Union.

Basis for opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (UK) (“ ISAs (UK)” ) and the terms
of our engagement letter dated 02 April 2020.  Our responsibilities are described below. We have fulfilled our
ethical responsibilities under, and are independent of the company in accordance with, UK ethical requirements
including the FRC Ethical Standard. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is a sufficient and
appropriate basis for our opinion.

Going concern

The directors have prepared the non-statutory accounts on the going concern basis as they do not intend to
liquidate the company or to cease its operations, and as they have concluded that the company’ s financial
position means that this is realistic. They have also concluded that there are no material uncertainties that
could have cast significant doubt over its ability to continue as a going concern for at least a year from the
date of approval of the non-statutory accounts (“ the going concern period” ).

We are required to report to you if we have concluded that the use of the going concern basis of accounting is
inappropriate or there is an undisclosed material uncertainty that may cast significant doubt over the use of
that basis for a period of at least a year from the date of approval of the non-statutory accounts. In our
evaluation of the directors’ conclusions, we considered the inherent risks to the company’ s business model,
including the impact of Brexit, and analysed how those risks might affect the company’ s financial resources or
ability to continue operations over the going concern period. We have nothing to report in these respects.

However, as we cannot predict all future events or conditions and as subsequent events may result in outcomes
that are inconsistent with judgements that were reasonable at the time they were made, the absence of reference
to a material uncertainty in this auditor®s report is not a guarantee that the company will continue in
operation.

Other information

The directors are responsible for the other information, which comprises the director’ s report. Our opinion on
the non-statutory accounts does not cover the other information and, accordingly, we do not express an audit
opinion or any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

Our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so, consider whether, based on our non-
statutory accounts or our audit knowledge. Based solely on that work, we have not identified material

misstatements in the other information.
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Directors”™ responsibilities

As explained more fully in their statement set out on page 5, the directors are responsible for: the preparation
of the non-statutory accounts, which are intended by them to give a true and fair view; such internal control as
they determine is necessary to enable the preparation of non-statutory accounts that are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error; assessing the company’ s ability to continue as a going concern,
disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern; and using the going concern basis of accounting
unless they either intend to liquidate the company or to cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but
to do so.

Auditor®s responsibilities

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the non-statutory accounts as a whole are free
from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue our opinion in an auditor’ s report.
Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but does not guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance
with ISAs (UK) will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or
error and are considered material if, individually or in aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to
influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of the non-statutory accounts.

A fuller description of our responsibilities is provided on the FRC' s website at
ww . Frc.org.uk/auditorsresponsibilities.

The purpose of our audit work and to whom we owe our responsibilities

Our report has been prepared for the Company solely in accordance with the terms of our engagement. It has been
released to the Company on the basis that our report shall not be copied, referred to or disclosed, in whole
(save for the Company’ s own internal purposes) or in part, without our prior written consent.

Our report was designed to meet the agreed requirements of the Company determined by the Company’ s needs at the
time. Our report should not therefore be regarded as suitable to be used or relied on by any party wishing to
acquire rights against us other than the Company for any purpose or in any context. Any party other than the
Company who obtains access to our report or a copy and chooses to rely on our report (or any part of it) will do
so at its own risk. To the fullest extent permitted by law, KPMG LLP will accept no responsibility or liability
in respect of our report to any other party.

Michael McGarry (Senior Statutory Auditor)
for and on behalf of KPMG LLP

Chartered Accountants

15 Canada Square

London E14 5GL

06 August 2020
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Report of Independent Auditors

To CIBC Bank and Trust Company (Cayman) Limited solely in its capacity as the Trustee of NEUB Corporate Hybrid

Securities Fund

We have audited the accompanying financial statements of NEUB Corporate Hybrid Securities Fund (the “ Fund” ),
which comprise the statement of assets and liabilities, including the portfolio of investments, as of February
29, 2020, and the related statements of operations, of changes in net assets, and of cash flows and the financial
highlights for the year then ended. These financial statements and financial highlights are hereafter

collectively referred to as “ financial statements”

Management’ s Responsibility for the Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in accordance
with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America; this includes the design,
implementation, and maintenance of internal control relevant to the preparation and fair presentation of

financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

Auditors’ Responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the financial statements based on our audit. We conducted our
audit in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America. Those standards
require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements

are free from material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the
financial statements. The procedures selected depend on our judgment, including the assessment of the risks of
material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk
assessments, we consider internal control relevant to the Fund’ s preparation and fair presentation of the
financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for
the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Fund’ s internal control. Accordingly, we
express no such opinion. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and
the reasonableness of significant accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall
presentation of the financial statements. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.

Opinion

In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the
financial position of NEUB Corporate Hybrid Securities Fund as of February 29, 2020, and the results of its
operations, changes in its net assets, and its cash flows and the financial highlights for the year then ended,
in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America.

PricewaterhouseCoopers

June 26, 2020
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR*S REPORT TO THE DIRECTORS OF NIKKO AM GLOBAL CAYMAN LTD
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2019

Opinion

We have audited the non-statutory accounts of Nikko AM Global Cayman Ltd (the “ Company” ) for the year ended 31
March 2019 which comprise the Consolidated Statement of Financial Position and the Company Statement of Financial
Position as at 31 March 2019, the Statement of Consolidated Comprehensive Income, the Consolidated Statement of
Changes in Equity, and the Consolidated Cash Flow Statement for the year then ended, and related notes including
the accounting policies in note 2. The non-statutory accounts have been prepared for the reasons set out in note
1.

In our opinion the non-statutory accounts:

give a true and fair view of the state of the Company’ s affairs as at 31 March 2019 and of its profit for
the year then ended; and

have been properly prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards as adopted by the
European Union.

Basis for opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (UK) (* ISAs (UK)” ) and the terms

of our engagement letter dated 3 May 2019. Our responsibilities are described below. We have fulfilled our
ethical responsibilities under, and are independent of the company in accordance with, UK ethical requirements
including the FRC Ethical Standard. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is a sufficient and

appropriate basis for our opinion.

The impact of uncertainties due to the UK exiting the European Union on our audit

Uncertainties related to the effects of Brexit are relevant to understanding our audit of the financial
statements. All audits assess and challenge the reasonableness of estimates made by the directors and related
disclosures and the appropriateness of the going concern basis of preparation of the financial statements. All of
these depend on assessments of the future economic environment and the company’ s future prospects and
performance.

Brexit is one of the most significant economic events for the UK, and at the date of this report its effects are
subject to unprecedented levels of uncertainty of outcomes, with the full range of possible effects unknown. We
applied a standardised firm-wide approach in response to that uncertainty when assessing the company’ s future
prospects and performance. However, no audit should be expected to predict the unknowable factors or all possible
future implications for a company and this is particularly the case in relation to Brexit.

Going concern

The directors have prepared the non-statutory accounts on the going concern basis as they do not intend to
liquidate the group or to cease their operations, and as they have concluded that the group and the company’ s
financial position means that this is realistic. They have also concluded that there are no material
uncertainties that could have cast significant doubt over their ability to continue as a going concern for at
least a year from the date of approval of the non-statutory accounts (“ the going concern period” ).

We are required to report to you if we have concluded that the use of the going concern basis of accounting is
inappropriate or there is an undisclosed material uncertainty that may cast significant doubt over the use of
that basis for a period of at least a year from the date of approval of the non-statutory accounts. In our
evaluation of the directors’ conclusions, we considered the inherent risks to the group’ s business model,
including the impact of Brexit, and analysed how those risks might affect the group and company’ s financial
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resources or ability to continue operations over the going concern period. We have nothing to report in these

respects.

However, as we cannot predict all future events or conditions and as subsequent events may result in outcomes
that are inconsistent with judgements that were reasonable at the time they were made, the absence of reference
to a material uncertainty in this auditor®s report is not a guarantee that the group will continue in operation.

Other information

The directors are responsible for the other information, which comprises the director’ s report. Our opinion on
the non-statutory accounts does not cover the other information and, accordingly, we do not express an audit
opinion or any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

Our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so, consider whether, based on our non-
statutory accounts or our audit knowledge. Based solely on that work, we have not identified material
misstatements in the other information.

Directors” responsibilities

As explained more fully in their statement set out on page 5, the directors are responsible for: the preparation
of the non-statutory accounts, which are intended by them to give a true and fair view; such internal control as
they determine is necessary to enable the preparation of non-statutory accounts that are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error; assessing the company’ s ability to continue as a going concern,
disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern; and using the going concern basis of accounting
unless they either intend to liquidate the company or to cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but
to do so.

Auditor®s responsibilities

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the non-statutory accounts as a whole are free
from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue our opinion in an auditor’ s report.
Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but does not guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance
with ISAs (UK) will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or
error and are considered material if, individually or in aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to
influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of the non-statutory accounts.

A fuller description of our responsibilities is provided on the FRC' s website at
ww . Frc.org.uk/auditorsresponsibilities.

The purpose of our audit work and to whom we owe our responsibilities

Our report has been prepared for the Company solely in accordance with the terms of our engagement. It has been
released to the Company on the basis that our report shall not be copied, referred to or disclosed, in whole
(save for the Company’ s own internal purposes) or in part, without our prior written consent.

Our report was designed to meet the agreed requirements of the Company determined by the Company’ s needs at the
time. Our report should not therefore be regarded as suitable to be used or relied on by any party wishing to
acquire rights against us other than the Company for any purpose or in any context. Any party other than the
Company who obtains access to our report or a copy and chooses to rely on our report (or any part of it) will do
so at its own risk. To the fullest extent permitted by law, KPMG LLP will accept no responsibility or liability
in respect of our report to any other party.
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Michael McGarry (Senior Statutory Auditor)
for and on behalf of KPMG LLP

Chartered Accountants

15 Canada Square

London E14 5GL

2 August 2019
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